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Directors’ report

The directors present their report together with the audited financial statements of 1923 Investments p.le.
and the consolidated financial statements of the group of which it is the parent, for the year ended 31
December 2018.

Principal activities

The group is engaged in the sale and distribution of Apple Products as an Apple Premium Reseller, as well as
the sale, maintenance and servicing of information technology solutions, secutity systems and provides
electronic payment solutions. As from 1 January 2018, the group is also engaged in providing road, sea and air
logistics setvices in Malta and in Poland.

The Company acts as an investment company and setvice providet to its subsidiary undertakings.

Performance review

During the year under review, the Group registered an operating profit of € 1,281,785 (2017: € 2,138,459) on
tevenue of € 122,022,751 (2017: € 97,535,475). After accounting for finance costs, the Group registered a
loss after tax of € 1,217,355 (2017: € 679,485). In 2017, the Group’s results included one-time hits amounting
to € 385,438 including € 253,438 loss on disposal of associate and € 132,000 write-offs and adjustments.

As from 1 January 2018, the Group’s results include the operations of the Logistics business which is
engaged in providing road, sea and air logistics setvices in Malta and in Poland. The results for 2017 do not
include the activities of this business line.

The Group’s net assets at the end of 2018 amounted to € 38,317,721 (2017: € 33,710,824). In 2018, the
increase in Net Asset Value was mainly attributable to the increase of share capital amounting to
€14,000,000 and a decrease in the retained earnings due to a dividend uplift to the ultimate parent amounting
to €5,800,000 together with a negative impact in the exchange reserve amounting to €2,254,810 due to
foreign exchange differences between the Polish Zloty and Euro.

In 2017, the increase in the Group’s Net Asset Value was primarily attributable to the acquisition of Hili
Logistics Ltd from Hili Ventures Ltd. In aggregate, intercompany balances amounting to € 27,175,276 were
capitalised. The Net Asset Value also increased because of the effect of exchange difference on translation of
foreign currency operations which in 2017 amounted to a favourable movement of € 2,190,639.

As disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements, the iSpot Holdings BV was metged with 1923 Investments
p-l.c. on 5 September 2018. As a consequence of this merger the Company succeeded to all the assets, rights,
liabilities and obligations of iSpot Holdings BV.

The Company earned revenue and investment income of € 1,080,000 and € 4,983,206 respectively (2017:
revenue of € 420,000 and investment income of € 5,226,350). After accounting for finance costs and
administrative expenditure, the Company registered a profit after tax of € 1,973,111 (2016: profit of
€2,999,423). The net assets of the Company at the end of 2018 amounted to € 49,832,821 (2017:

€ 39,635,974).

The Group measures the achievement of its objectives through the use of the following other key
performance indicatots.
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Financial

The Group’s curtent ratio (“current assets divided by curtent liabilities) currently stands at 1.13:1 (2017; 1:1).
The Group uses this indicator as a measure of liquidity.

The Group measures its performance based on EBITDA. EBITDA is defined as the Group profit before
depreciation, amortisation, net finance expense and taxation. During the year under review, EBITDA
decreased by 12% to € 3,777,661 from € 4,276,545.

The Group’s EBIDTA margin dropped to 3.1% (2017: 4.4%).

The Group aims to deliver a return on average capital employed above the level of its cost of funding. The
return on avetrage capital employed represents the profit on ordinary activities before finance costs and
exceptional items but including share of results of joint ventures, divided by the average of opening and
closing tangible net worth. The Company ensures that this capital is used as effectively as possible. The
return on average capital employed decreased from 6% to 3% during the year under review due to a drop in

profitability.

The Group’s gearing ratio has reduced to 48% (2017: 60%). Interest cover stands at 1.3 compared to 1.7 in
2017, a decrease as a direct result of the drop in EBITDA.

Non-financial

Customer satisfaction is constantly monitored within Ispot in Poland and Romania. The convetsion rate,
which measures the percentage of actual purchases compared to customets entering the store increased in
2018 and the number of clients in 2018 increased by 6.5% over 2017 and had a higher average basket spend
compared to 2017. However traffic decreased by 0.4% when compated to 2017.

The results of the Harvest division are in line with the expectations of the business and the outlook going
forward is cautiously optimistic. The directors note that the volumes of the e-commerce business increased
by 7% in 2018 over 2017. Harvest will continue to provide 1923 Investments plc with steadily positive
results which the directors are committed to strengthen and continue to improve.

In the Logistics business, we faced certain challenges during 2018 due to market changes and high
competition in Malta and in Poland.

The directors have revised the strategy and in 2018 a lot of effort was made in strengthening a sales team
which can bring new business. The sales team are very active and started to gain some of the lost accounts
and also gained new customers. Management is already seeing improvement in the first quarter of 2019 and
are continuously striving for better results.

The Freight Forwarding company in Poland has also suffered from market conditions arising in 2018 as a
tesult of customs duties imposed on US imports of steel from EU, and similatly the break bulk business was
negatively affected by additional charges imposed on exports of cargo from Non-EU to EU countties. In
2018, the new management of Allcom, together with the sales team, are more focused and are striving to gain
more business. Results of the first quarter of 2019 were better than budget in terms of volume.

The Group partners with suppliers who place great focus on minimising their carbon footprint and
consequentially their environmental impact. The directors believe that good internal environmental practices
support the board’s strategy by enhancing the reputation of the Group and the quality and efficiency of
products and setvices offered. Consequently, the Group continues to put environmental responsibilities high
on the agenda.
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Principal risks and uncertainties

The Board as a whole, including the Audit Committee members, consider the nature and extent of the risk
management framework and risk profile that is acceptable to the Board. The Audit Committee regularly
reviews the work carried out by the Internal Auditor, and ensure any weaknesses identified are remedied so as
not to pose a risk to the Group.

1923 Investments has established strategic relationships with its key suppliets. These relationships support
1923 Investments’ product and service offetings, and sales activities generally. There is no guarantee that
1923 Investments will be able to maintain these alliances, enter into further alliances or that existing suppliers
will not enter into relationships with 1923 Investments’ competitors. The loss of any of these relationships,
in particular, the agreement with Apple that authotises iSpot Poland SP z.0.0 to engage in the sale and
distribution of Apple products as an Apple Premium Reseller in Poland, could have a material adverse effect
on 1923 Investments’ business, results of operations and financial condition. Additionally, as from 1 January
2018, the Group has alliances with shipping companies which will expite in the coming years. The expiry of
these alliances and agreements, if not renegotiated, may have a significant impact on the results of the
logistics and transport business.

Financial risk management

Note 42 to the financial statements provides details in connection with the Group’s use of financial
instruments, its financial risk management objectives and policies and the financial risks to which it is
exposed.

Non-Financial Statement
Environmental matters

The Group 1s committed to environmental responsibility, and all subsidiaties within the Group have a role to
play in living up to that commitment. Efforts are put on areas where the Group can have significant impact
on ctritical environmental issues, including climate change, natural resoutce conservation and waste
management. The Group invests in innovations that can improve our envitonmental footprint, besides
collaborating with other organizations to raise environmental awareness and work with key suppliers to
promote environmentally responsible practices in their operations.

The Group feels that it is its duty to operate as patt of the local community in order to keep the countries,
where we operate, tidy. Subsidiaries within the Group ate enrolled in local programmes for waste collection,

separation and recycling of waste.

In terms of energy efficiency, the Group implements modern technology throughout its business divisions,
with the installation of energy management systems and the use of energy efficient equipment and LED
lighting.

Employee matters

The Group provides opportunity, nuttures talent, provides support to develop leaders and rewards
achievement. The Group believes that a team of individuals with diverse backgrounds and experiences,
working together in an environment that fosters respect and dtives high levels of engagement, is essential to
its continuing business success. Performance evaluation systems are employed actoss the Group by applying
career progression mechanisms and by rewatding achievements.

Each of the Group’s employees deserves to be treated with fairness, tespect and dignity, providing equal
oppottunity for employees and applicants. All of the Group’s employees have the right to wotk in a place
that is free from harassment, intimidation or abuse, sexual or otherwise, ot acts ot threats of physical
violence. It is committed to diversity and equal opportunities for evetyone, respecting the unique attributes
and perspectives of every employee, and rely on these diverse petspectives to help the Group build and
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improve the relationships with customers and business partners. The Group embraces the diversity of its
employees, customers and business partners, and work hatd to make sute evetyone within the Group feels
welcome.

The Group provides equal treatment and equal employment opportunity without regard to race, colour,
religion, sex, age, national origin, disability, sexual otientation, gender identity or any othet basis protected by
law. In addition, it is committed to providing a safe and healthful working environment for its employees,
requiring all employees to abide by safety rules and practices and to take the necessaty precautions to protect
themselves and their fellow employees. For evetyone’s safety, employees must immediately report accidents

and unsafe practices or conditions to their immediate supetvisors.

Social Matters

The Group takes its corporate social responsibility very setiously and engages with its social partners and the
community in general to give back through community involvement and the ptotection of the environment
through the creation and realisation of advanced technology systems. The Group’s history has shown a
proven contribution towards society by enhancing the quality of life of its customers and the general public
alike.

Respect for human rights

The Group conducts its activities in a manner that respects human rights, taking the responsibility seriously
to act with due diligence to avoid infringing on the human rights of others and addressing any impact on
human rights if they occur. The Group’s commitment to respect human tights is defined in the code of
business conduct, which applies to all employees of the Group.

The Group is committed to provide a safe work environment that fostets respect, fairness and dignity.
Group employees are trained annually on the standard of business conduct.

Apnti-corruption and bribery matters

The Group’s employees must comply with the Group Code of Conduct and Whistle-blower Policy to ensure
that all employees are discouraged from any corrupt practices or bribery as well as are incentivized to teport
any such activities in a direct line with the responsible Group supetvisor, without feating reprisals. Every
employee is introduced to these policies upon employment and ate mandatoty to be adhered to it.

The Group prohibits all forms of bribery ot kickbacks as detailed in the Code of Conduct. All employees,
representatives and business partners must fully comply with anti-bribery legislation. To comply with the
Group policy and anti-bribery laws, no employee should ever offer, directly or indirectly, any form of gift,
entertainment or anything of value to any government official ot his ot het representatives.

The Group is committed to complying with the applicable laws in all countties where it does business. It
adopts an anti-corruption policy which sets forth its commitment to ensuting that it carties out business in
an ethical manner and abides by all applicable anti-bribery and anti-cotruption laws in the countties in which
it operates by, among other things, prohibiting the giving ot receiving of imptopet payments in the conduct
of its business, and by discoutaging such behaviour by its business partners.

Business Model

The Group operates four main business activities which are the sale of retail and IT solutions in Poland
predominately as an Apple Premium Reseller, the sale of payment processing services, the provision of IT
solutions and security systems and the provision of road, sea and air logistics setvices.

The Group’s Apple retail business in Poland offers an extennsive range of Apple products and other
software in Poland. Harvest Technology’s business line in Malta is a2 multi-btrand information technology
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solutions provider to businesses and the public sectot. In addition, Harvest Technology is a payments
solutions provider offeting e-commerce processing setvices for retailers and internet-based merchants
together with the provision of a wide range of automation and secutity solutions cateting to the banking,
retail, fuel and other sectors.

Through its wide range of setvices and experience in technology, the Group is positioned to continue to
develop and offer a wide range of solutions to its customers and to assure a high quality of services to its
customets.

The logistics division, which was acquited by the 1923 Investments pl.c. Group at the end of 2017 from Hili
Ventures Limited, continues to provide its transport and logistics setvices through its long-standing
experience in the sector and its continued support and excellent relationship with its business pattnets.

Significant judgements and estimates

Note 5 to the financial statements provides details in connection with the inherent uncettainties that
surround the preparation of the financial statements which requite significant estimates and judgements.

Results and dividends

The results for the year ended 31 December 2018 are shown in the statements of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 13. The Group’s loss for the year after taxation was € 1,217,355 (2017: loss
of € 679,485), whilst the Company’s profit for the year after taxation was € 1,973,111 (2017 — profit of

€ 2,999,423). During 2018, a management fee amounting to € 660,000 was charged by the parent company
(2017: € nil).

A final dividend of of €5,800,000 is being recommended.

Likely future business developments

The directors of 1923 Investments p.l.c. are of the view that there are a number of investment opportunities
that will be explored and evaluated with a view to continue to grow its business portfolio in line with the
Company’s strategy.

Post balance sheet events

Thete were no adjusting or significant non-adjusting events between the end of the reporting period and the
date of authorisation by the Boatd.

Directors
The following have served as directors of the Company during the period under review:

Mr Chatles Botg - Chaitman

Mr Richard Abdilla Castillo

Mr Geoffrey Camilleri

Mr Karl Fritz

Mr Stephen Kenneth Tatr

Dr Austin Gatt (appointed on 3 January 2019)

Profs. Juanito Camilleri (appointed on 3 January 2019)

Ms Margrit Lutschg-Emmenegger (resigned on 3 January 2019)
Mt John Trefor Price Robetts (resigned on 3 January 2019)

In accordance with the Company’s Atrticles of Association, the present directors remain in office.

Going concern

The directors are satisfied that, at the time of approving the financial statements, it is approptiate to adopt the
going concern basis in prepating the financial statements.
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Disclosure of information to the auditor

At the date of making this report the directors confirm the following:

= As far as each director is aware, there is no relevant information needed by the independent auditor in
connection with preparing the audit report of which the independent auditor is unaware, and

= Each director has taken all steps that they ought to have taken as a director in order to make themselves
aware of any relevant information needed by the independent auditor in connection with preparing the
teport and to establish that the independent auditor is aware of that information.

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The Companies Act, Cap 386 requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial petiod
which give a true and fair view of their state of affairs of the Group and the Company as at the end of the
reporting period and of the profit or loss of theit operations for that period. In preparing those financial
statements, the directors are requited to:

- adopt the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume that the Company will continue in

business;
- select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
- make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent;
- account for income and chatges relating to the accounting period on the acctuals basis; and
- value separately the components of asset and liability items.

The ditectors are responsible for keeping proper accounting records which disclose with reasonable accuracy
at any time the financial position of the Company, and to enable them to ensure that the financial statements
have been propetly prepared in accordance with the Companies Act, Cap 386. This responsibility includes
designing, implementing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation
of financial statements that are free from matetial misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. They ate also
responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Group, and for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and
detection of fraud and other irregulatities.

Auditor

Grant Thornton have intimated their willingness to continue in office.

A resolution to reappoint Grant Thornton as auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
annual general meeting.

Approved by the board of directors and signed on its behalf on 25 April 2019 by:

) ‘/';/
7N

/

z—T 1
harles Bor Stephen Kenneth Tarr
Chaitman ~ Director

Registered addtess:
Nineteen Twenty-Three
Valletta Road

Marsa MRS 3000

Malta

25 April 2019
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Statement of responsibility pursuant to the Listing Rules
issued by the Listing Authority

We confirm that to the best of our knowledge:

a. In accordance with the Listing Rule 5.68, the financial statements give a true and fair view of the
financial position of the Company and its Group as at 31 December 2018 and of their financial
performance and cash flows for the year then ended, in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards as adopted by the EU; and

b. In accordance with the Listing Rules, the Directots’ repott includes a fait review of the performance
of the business and the position of the Issuer and the undertakings included in the consolidation taken
as a whole, together with a description of the principal risks and uncettainties that they face.

hattes Borg “Stephen Kenneth Tart

Chairman Director
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Corporate governance statement

Introduction

Pursuant to the Listing Rules as issued by the Listing Authority of the Malta Financial Services Authority,
1923 Investments p.l.c. (the ‘company’) is hereby reporting on the extent of its adoption of the Code of
Principles of Good Corporate Governance (the ‘Principles’) contained in Appendix 5.1 of the Listing Rules.

The Board acknowledges that the Code does not dictate or prescribe mandatory rules but recommends
principles of good practice. Nonetheless, the Board strongly believes that the Principles are in the best
interest of the shareholders and other stakeholders since they ensure that the Directors, Management and
employees of the Group adhete to internationally recognised high standards of Corporate Governance.

‘The Group currently has a corporate decision-making and supetvisory structure that is tailored to suit the
Group’s requirements and designed to ensute the existence of adequate checks and balances within the
Group, whilst retaining an element of flexibility, patticulatly in view of the size of the Group and the nature
of the its business. The Group adheres to the Principles, except for those instances where there exist
particular circumstances that warrant non-adherence thereto, or at least postponement for the time being.

Additionally, the Board recognises that, by virtue of Listing Rule 5.101, the Company is exempt from making
available the information required in terms of Listing Rules 5.97.1 to 5.97.3; 5.97.6 and 5.97.8.

The Board of Ditectors

The Board of Directors of the Company is responsible for the overall long-term direction of the Group, in
particular in being actively involved in overseeing the systems of control and financial reporting and that the
Group communicates effectively with the market.

The Board of Directors meets regularly, with a minimum of four times annually, and is cutrently composed
of seven Members, four of which are completely independent from the Company or any other related
companies.

For the purpose of the listing rules, Prof Juanito Camilleri, Mt Karl Fritz, Mt Carmelo Botg and Dr Austin
Gatt are independent non-executive directors of the Company. In addition to the above, Margtit Lutschg-
Emmenegger and John Trefor Price Roberts setved as non-executive ditectors until they resighed on 3
January 2019.

Executive Directors

Richard Abdilla Castillo (Chief Executive Officet)

Non-Executive Directors

Stephen Kenneth Tarr
Geoffrey Camilleri

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Charles Borg (Chairman)

Juanito Camilleri

Karl Fritz

Austin Gatt
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The Board Meetings are attended by the Chief Financial Officer of the Group in order for the Board to have
direct access to the financial operation of the Group. This is intended to, inter alia, ensure that the policies
and strategies adopted by the Board are effectively implemented.

The remuneration of the board is reviewed petiodically by the shareholders of the Company.

The Company ensures that it provides directors with relevant information to enable them to effectively
contribute to board decisions.

The directors are fully aware of their duties and obligations, and whenever a conflict of interest in decision
making arises, they refrain from participating in such decisions.

Audit Committee

The Terms of Reference of the Audit Committee are modelled on the principles set out in the Listing Rules.
The Audit Committee assists the Board in fulfilling its supetvisory and monitoring responsibility by
reviewing the Group financial statements and disclosures, monitoring the system of internal control
established by management as well as the audit processes.

The Board of Directors established the Audit Committee, which meets regularly, with a minimum of four
times annually, and is cutrently composed of the following individuals:

Karl Fritz (Chairman)

Geoffrey Camilleri

Austin Gatt (appointed on 3 January 2019)

John Trefor Price Roberts (tesigned on 3 January 2019)

satisfying the requirement established by the Listing Rules that the Audit Committee is composed of non-
executive directors, the majority of which being independent. Geoffrey Camilleri is a non-executive director
and holds the position of Chief Financial Officer of the parent company.

The Board considers Mt Karl Fritz to be competent in accounting and/or auditing in terms of the Listing
Rules. Furthermore, the Board considers that the Audit Committee, as a whole, to have relevant competence
in the sector the Company is opetating.

The Audit Committee met six times during 2017 and three times during 2018. Communication with and
between the Secretary, top level management and the Committee is ongoing and considerations that required
the Committee’s attention were acted upon between meetings and decided by the Members (where necessaty)
through electronic circulation and correspondence.

Internal Control

While the Board is ultimately responsible for the Group’s internal controls as well as their effectiveness,
authotity to operate the Group is delegated to the Managing Director.

The Group’s system of internal controls is designed to manage all the risks in the most appropriate manner.
However, such controls cannot provide an absolute elimination of all business risks or losses. Therefore, the
Board, inter alia, reviews the effectiveness of the Group’s system of internal controls in the following
mannet:
1. Reviewing the Group’s strategy on an on-going basis as well as setting the appropriate business
objectives in otder to enhance value for all stakeholders;
2. Implementing an appropriate otganisational structure for planning, executing, controlling and
monitoring business operations in otder to achieve Group objectives;
3. Appointing and monitoring the Managing Director whose function is to manage the operations of
the Group;
4. Identifying and ensuring that significant risks are managed satisfactorily; and
5. Company policies are being obsetved.
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Corporate Social Responsibility

The Board is mindful of and seeks to adhere to sound ptinciples of Corporate Social Responsibility in their
daily management practices, which is also extended throughout the Company’s subsidiary companies. There
is continuing commitment to operate the business ethically at all times, at the same time as contributing to
economic development whilst improving the quality of life of its employees and their families together with
the local community and society at latge.

In cattying on its business, the Group is fully aware of its obligation to preserving the environment and has, in
fact, put in place a number of policies aimed at respecting the environment and reducing waste.

Relations with the market

The matket is kept up to date with all relevant information, and the Company regulatly publishes such
information on its website to ensure consistent relations with the market.

Non-compliance with the code

Principle 7: Evaluation of the board’s performance
Under the present circumstances, the Board does not consider it necessaty to appoint a committee to carry
out a petformance evaluation of its role as the Board’s petformance is always under scrutiny of the

shareholders of the Company.
Principle 8: Committees

Under the present circumstances the Board does not consider it necessary to appoint a remuneration
committee and a nomination committee as decisions on these matters are taken at shareholder level.

Principle 10: Institutional shareholders
This principle is not applicable since the Company has no institutional shareholders.

Approved by the Board of Directors and signed on its behalf on 25 April 2019 by:

Stephen Kenneth Tatr
Director

Chairman .
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Other disclosures in terms of listing rules

Statement by the directots pursuant to Listing Rule 5.70.1

Contracts of significance
Loan agreements with subsidiaries and related parties

The Company has loans payable and receivable to/from subsidiaties and related patties, which ate disclosed
in the financial statements.

Rental agreements with related parties

The subsidiaries of 1923 Investments p.l.c. have entered into rental agreements with a related patty. The
agreed rates have been set on an arms’ length basis.

Pursuant to Listing Rule 5.70.2
Company secretary and registeted office

Melanie Miceli Demajo
Nineteen Twenty-Three
Valletta Road

Marsa MRS 3000

Malta

Signed on behalf of the board of directors on 25 Aptil 2019 by:

__Chatles Bor Stephen Kenneth Tarr
Chaitman Director
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Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

Revenue

Cost of sales

Gross profit

Other operating income
Administrative expenses
Operating profit

Investment income

Finance costs

Other income

Loss on disposal of associate
Share of profit in associates
Share of results in joint ventures
(Loss) profit before tax

Tax expense

(Loss) profit for the year from
continuing operations

Loss from discontinued operations

(Loss) profit for the year

Other comprehensive income
ltems that may be reclassified
subsequently to profit or loss
Exchange differences on
translating foreign operations
Total comprehensive

(loss)/income

Loss attributable to:
Owners of the company
Non-controlling interest

Total comprehensive (expense)
income attributable to:
Owners of the company
Non-controlling interest

Notes

11

10
38
20
20
20
1
14

45

The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)

€ € € €
122,022,751 97,535,475 1,080,000 420,000
(108,483,977) (89,280,698) - -
13,538,774 8,254,777 1,080,000 420,000
81,237 10,686 - -
(12,338,226) (6,127,004) (1,285,965) (440,219)
1,281,785 2,138,459 (205,965) (20,219)
202,332 508,984 4,983,206 5,226,350
(2,740,165) (2,701,368) (2,482,497) (2,142,099)
- 218,957 D -

- (253,438) & -

121,593 - - -
69,714 22,240 - -
(1,064,741) (66,166) 2,294,744 3,064,032
(152,614) (608,331) (321,633) (64,609)
(1,217,355) (674,497) 1,973,111 2,999,423
- (4,988) - -
(1,217,355) (679,485) 1,973,111 2,999,423
(2,254,810) 2,190,639 - -
(3,472,165) 1,511,154 1,973,111 2,999,423
(1,219,543) (680,323) 1,973,111 2,999,423
2,188 838 - -
(1,217,355) (679,485) 1,973,111 2,999,423
(3,474,353) 1,510,316 1,973,111 2,999,423
2,188 838 - -
(3,472,165) 1,511,154 1,973,111 2,999,423
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Statements of financial position

Notes The group The group
2018 2017
€ €

Assets

Non-current

Goodwill 16 54,285,881 56,001,331
Intangible assets 17 12,099,714 12,724,382
Property, plant and equipment 18 6,629,098 7,874,394
Investment in subsidiaries 19 = -
Investment in associates 20 107,950 133,357
Investment in joint ventures 20 800,439 1,036,122
Other investment 21 50,000 50,000
Loans and receivables 22 8,523,204 6,476,110
Deferred tax assets 35 1,545,874 1,100,910
84,042,160 85,396,606

Current
Inventories 23 15,840,850 12,409,219
Loans and receivables 22 1,039,552 732,378
Contract assets 7 905,058 -
Other assets 24 1,612,440 1,033,884
Trade and other receivables 25 12,627,559 14,635,920
Cash and cash equivalents 26 3,604,370 3,231,078
Current tax assets 1,121,753 1,051,271
36,751,582 33,093,750
Total assets 120,793,742 118,490,356
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Statements of financial position - continued

Notes The group The group
2018 2017
€ €
Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the parent:
Share capital 27 49,575,000 35,575,000
Other equity 28 (4,741,736) (4,765,472)
Retained earnings (5,519,637) 1,656,380
Translation reserve 29 (1,040,142) 1,214,668
38,273,485 33,680,576
Non-controlling interest 44,236 30,248
Total equity 38,317,721 33,710,824
Liabilities

Non-current

Debt securities in issue 30 35,515,557 35,434,649
Borrowings 31 100,000 5,755,339
Trade and other payables 32 831,208 1,076,391
Other financial liabilities 34 12,299,722 8,395,800
Deferred tax liabilities 35 1,195,804 1,009,067
49,942,291 51,671,246
Current
Borrowings 31 3,534,561 6,009,619
Trade and other payables 32 26,652,259 26,136,896
Contract liabilities 33 1,591,781 -
Other financial liabilities 34 350,009 405,422
Current tax liability 405,120 556,349

32,533,730 33,108,286

Total liabilities 82,476,021 84,779,532

Total equity and liabilities 120,793,742 118,490,356
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Statements of financial position - continued
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Notes The company The company The company
2018 2017 2016
(restated) (restated)
€ € €

Assets

Non-current

Plant and equipment 18 3,000 - -
Investment in subsidiaries 19 64,910,308 64,923,823 38,148,033
Investment in joint venture 20 682,375 682,375 507,375
Loans and receivables 22 34,901,419 5,627,646 3,989,825
100,497,102 71,133,844 42,645,233

Current
Loans and receivables 22 3,600,000 8,389,097 5,639,125
Other assets 24 53,189 - -
Trade and other receivables 25 409,810 301,489 996,552
Cash and cash equivalents 26 1,366,403 200,472 203,540
Current tax assets 407,375 261,503 -
5,836,777 9,152,561 6,839,217
Total assets 106,333,879 80,286,405 49,484,450
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Statements of financial position — continued
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Notes The company The company The company
2018 2017 2016
(restated) (restated)
€ € €
Equity
Equity attributable to owners of the parent:
Share capital 27 49,575,000 35,675,000 8,399,724
Other equity 28 154,629 130,893 -
Retained earnings 103,192 3,930,081 930,658
Total equity 49,832,821 39,635,974 9,330,382
Liabilities
Non-current
Debt securities in issue 30 35,515,557 35,434,649 35,353,742
Other financial liabilities 34 19,176,666 3,955,537 2,532,627
54,692,223 39,390,186 37,886,369
Current
Trade and other payables 32 717,201 635,953 478,815
Other financial liabilities 34 1,091,634 624,292 1,724,729
Current tax liabilities - - 64,155
1,808,835 1,260,245 2,267,699
Total liabilities 56,501,058 40,650,431 40,154,068
Total equity and liabilities 106,333,879 80,286,405 49,484,450

The financial statements on pages 13 to 85 were apptroved by the boatd of directots, authotised for issue on

25 April 2019 and signed on its behalf by:

o

/
/

e

i

_—Charles Borg
Chairman

Stephen Kenneth Tatr

Ditrector
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Statement of changes in equity - the group

At 1 January 2017

Transactions with
owners:
Capitalisation of loans
Value of services
provided by officer of
the group (note 12)

(Loss)/profit for the
year

Other comprehensive
income for the year
Total comprehensive

income

Disposal of associate
Disposal of subsidiary
Disposal of shares in
subsidiary (note 12)
Other movements in
equity (note 28)

At 31 December
2017

18

Attributable to Non-
Share Retained Translationequity holders  controlling Total
Capital Other equity earnings reserve of the parent interests Equity
€ € € € € € €
8,399,724 (3.121,365) 448,036 (975,971) 4,750,424 600 4,751,024
27,175,276 - - - 27,175,276 - 27,175,276
- 130,893 - - 130,893 - 130,893
27,175,276 130,893 - - 27,306,169 - 27,306,169
- - (680,323) - (680,323) 838 (679,485)
- - B 2,190,639 2,190,639 - 2,190,639
- - (680,323) 2,190,639 1,510,316 838 1,511,154
- 300,000 (183,487) - 116,513 (600) 115,913
- - (2,846) - (2,846) - (2,846)
- - - - - 29,410 29,410
- (2,075,000) 2,075,000 - - - -
- (1,775,000) 1,888,667 - 113,667 28,810 142,477
35,575,000 (4,765,472) 1,656,380 1,214,668 33,680,576 30,248 33,710,824
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Statement of changes in equity — the group - continued

At 1 January 2018
Adjustment from the
adoption of IFRS 15
Adjusted balance at 1
January 2018

Transactions with
owners:

Increase in share
capital

Dividend paid to
shareholder
Dividend paid to
minority interest
Value of services
provided by officer of
the group (note 12)

(Loss)/profit for the
year

Other comprehensive
income for the year
Total comprehensive

income

Minority interest on
purchase of subsidiary
Full acquisition of
subsidiary

Disposal of shares in
subsidiary (note 12)

At 31 December
2018

Retained

earnings Attributable to Non-
Share (accumulated Translation equity holders  controlling Total
capital Other equity losses) reserve of the parent interests equity
€ € € € € €
35,575,000 (4,765,472) 1,656,380 1,214,668 33,680,576 30,248 33,710,824
- - (61,869) - (61,869) - (61,869)
35,575,000 (4,765,472) 1,594,511 1,214,668 33,618,707 30,248 33,648,955
14,000,000 - - - 14,000,000 - 14,000,000
- - (5,800,000) (5,800,000) (5,800,000)
3 5 EX - - (2,905) (2,905)
- 23,736 - - 23,736 - 23,736
14,000,000 23,736 (5,800,000) - 8,223,736 (2,905) 8,220,831
- - (1,219,543) - (1,219,543) 2,188 (1,217,355)
- - - (2,254,810) (2,254,810) - (2,254,810)
B - (1,219,543) (2,254,810) (3,474,353) 2,188 (3,472,165)
s = = - - (94,605) (94,605)
- - (94,605) - (94,605) 94,605 -
- - - - - 14,705 14,705
- - (94,605) - (94,605) 14,705 (79,900)
49,575,000 (4,741,736) (5,5619,637) (1,040,142) 38,273,485 44,236 38,317,721

Accumulated losses include cutrent and prior period results as disclosed in the statement of comprehensive

ihcome.
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Statement of changes in equity — the company

At 1 January 2016

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income
At 31 December 2016

At 1 January 2017
Capitalisation of loans

Value of services provided by
officer of the group (note 12)

Transactions with owners

Profit for the year

Total comprehensive income

At 31 December 2017

20

Retained

Share capital Other equity earnings Total
€ € € €
8,399,724 - (1,648,363) 6,751,361
- - 2,579,021 2,579,021

- - 2,579,021 2,579,021
8,399,724 - 930,658 9,330,382
8,399,724 - 930,658 9,330,382
27,175,276 - - 27,175,276
- 130,893 - 130,893
27,175,276 130,893 - 27,306,169
- - 2,999,423 2,999,423

- - 2,999,423 2,999,423
35,575,000 130,893 3,930,081 39,635,974
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Statement of changes in equity - the company

Retained
Share capital Other equity earnings Total
€ € € €
At 1 January 2018 35,575,000 130,893 3,930,081 39,635,974
Capitalisation of loans - - - -
Increase in share capital 14,000,000 - - 14,000,000
Value of services provided by
officer of the group (note 12) - 23,736 - 23,736
Transactions with owners 14,000,000 23,736 B 14,023,736
Profit for the year - - 1,973,111 1,973,111
Dividend paid to shareholder - - (5,800,000) (5,800,000)
Total comprehensive income - - (3,826,889) (3,826,889)
At 31 December 2018 49,575,000 154,629 103,192 49,832,821

Retained earnings include cutrent and ptiot petiod results as disclosed in the statement of comprehensive
income.
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Statements of cash flows

Operating activities

Profit (loss) before tax

Adjustments

Net changes in working capital

Interest received

Interest paid

Tax paid

Tax refunded

Net cash used in continuing operations
Net cash used in discontinued operations

Net cash used in operating activities

Investing activities

Payments to acquire PPE

Payments to acquire intangible assets
Proceeds from sale of PPE

Interest received

Cash and cash equivalents taken over upon
acquisition of subsidiaries

Amounts advanced to subsidiaries
Payments to parent company

Payments from subsidiary companies
Payments (to) from related companies
Payments to acuire subsidiary

Payment for increase in share capital of JV
Payments to acquire other investments
Dividends received from associates

Net cash (used in) generated from

investing activities

Notes

36
36

38
31

22

The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated) (restated)

€ € € €
(1,064,741) (66,166) 2,294,744 3,064,032
5,362,577 5,228,671 (2,499,709)  (3,084,251)
(2,915,529) (1,998,985) (82,238) 853,864
(2,659,258) (2,620,461)  (1,867,509) (1,860,069)
(1,052,928) (974,458) (65,223) (64,155)
420,376 69,388 - -
(1,909,503) (362,011)  (2,219,935)  (1,090,579)
- (4,988) - -
(1,909,503) (366,999)  (2,219,935) (1,090,579)
(1,189,170) (2,182,716) (4,000) -
(473,869) (653,501) - -
329,358 134,667 B -
17,718 87,399 17,718 -

- 747,035 - -

- - (9,600,000) -

- - (33,897) (201,103)

- - 1,002,140 2,301,245
(414,940) 2,259,289 3,905 392,569

- - B (1,230,200)

- - B (175,000)

- (50,000) - -

147,000 211,946 - -
(1,583,903) 654,119 (8,614,134) 1,087,511
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Statements of cash flows - continued

Financing activities

Increase in share capital

Dividends paid

Proceeds from bank loan

Repayments of bank loans

Amount received from a third party

Amount advanced to ultimate parent company
Net cash (used in) generated from

financing activities

Net change in cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year

Cash and cash equivalents, end of year

23

Notes The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017

(restated) (restated)

€ € € €

14,000,000 - 14,000,000 -
(2,002,905) - (2,000,000) -
300,000 - - -
(10,642,763) (1,336,036) - -

- 6,000,000 - -

- (6,000,000) - -

1,654,332 (1,336,036) 12,000,000 -
(1,839,074) (1,048,916) 1,165,931 (3,068)
2,108,883 3,157,799 200,472 203,540

26 269,809 2,108,883 1,366,403 200,472
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Notes to the financial statements

1 Nature of operations

The principal activities of the group are the sale and distribution of Apple Products as an Apple Premium
Reseller, as well as the sale, maintenance and servicing of information technology solutions, security systems
and provides electronic payment solutions. As from 1 January 2018, the group was also engaged in providing
road, sea and air logistics services in Malta and in Poland. The company acts as an investment company and
service provider to its subsidiary undertakings.

2 General information, statement of compliance with IFRS and going concern
assumption

The company was incorporated on 23 December 2013 as a holding company. The registeted address and
principal place of business of the company is Nineteen Twenty-Three, Valletta Road, Marsa MRS 3000,
Malta.

The company is a public company whose bonds are publicly listed and traded on the Malta Stock Exchange.

"The financial statements of the company and the consolidated financial statements of the group have been
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the
International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and as adopted by the European Union (EU), and in
accordance with the Companies Act, Cap 386.

In 2018, the group has adopted new guidance for the recognition of revenue from contracts with customers
(see Note 4.1 below). This guidance was applied using a modified retrospective (‘cumulative catch-up’)
approach under which changes having a matetial effect on the consolidated statement of financial position as
at 1 January 2018 are presented together as a single adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings.
Accordingly, the group is not requited to present a third statement of financial position as at that date.

Further, the group has adopted new guidance for accounting for financial instruments (seec Note 4.1 below).
This guidance was applied using the transitional relief allowing the entity not to restate prior periods.
Differences arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 in relation to classification, measurement, and impairment
are recognised in retained earnings.

The financial statements are presented in euro (€), which is also the functional currency of the company and
the group.
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3 Merger

During 2018, it was decided that iSpot Holdings BV be amalgamated into 1923 Invetsments p.l.c. The merger
became effective on 5 September 2018. At that date, 1923 Invetsments p.l.c. held all of the entite shate capital
of iSpot Holdings BV wheteby the company acquited all of the assets, tights, liabilities and obligations of the
latter. The simplified formalities in terms of Regulation 19(1) of the Cross-Border Mergets of Limited Liability
Companies Regulations, S.I. 386.12 were applicable to this cross-botder metger.

Assets and liabilities contributed by each enterprise as at 5 September 2018, the effective date of the merger,
were as follows:

1923
Investments iSpot
p.l.c. Holdings BV
€ €
Total assets 87,747,690 41,085,177
Total liabilities (38,050,042) (5,961,215)

49,697,648 35,123,962

Since at the time of combination iSpot Holdings BV and 1923 Invetsments p.l.c. wete entities under common
control, the provisions under IFRS 3 Business Combinations did not apply. In this case the pooling of interest
method was used to account for the combination. Under this method the financial statement items of the
combining entities for the period in which the combination occured and for the compatative petiods disclosed
have been included in the financial statements of 1923 Invetsments p.l.c. as if they had been combined from
the beginning of the eatliest period presented. The share capital of iSpot Holdings BV was eliminated with the
investment by 1923 Investments p.lc. in iSpot Holdings BV.

4 New or revised Standards or Interpretations

4.1 New standards adopted as at 1 January 2018

IFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customers’

TFRS 15 ‘Revenue from Contracts with Customets” and the related ‘Clarifications to IFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers’ (hereinafter referred to as TFRS 15°) replace IAS 18 Revenue’, TAS 11
‘Construction Contracts’, and several revenue-related Interpretations. The new Standard has been applied
retrospectively without restatement, with the cumulative effect of initial application recognised as an
adjustment to the opening balance of retained earnings at 1 January 2018. In accordance with the transition
guidance, IFRS 15 has only been applied to contracts that are incomplete as at 1 January 2018.

The adoption of IFRS 15 has mainly affected the following area:
* Development of I'T" systems involving the design and implementation of complex softwate solutions

The design and implementation of such systems is complex by natute and is usually completed over a
number of months. The contracts typically include both the provision of hardware and softwate as well as
the provision of maintenance and support over a petiod of time which may extend to a number of years.
Prior to the introduction of IFRS 15, revenue on large contracts was tecognised in accordance with the
petcentage completion method in accordance with IAS 11, Construction Contracts. IFRS 15 now replaces,
inter alia TAS 11 and this requites revenue to be recognised in accordance with the 5 step model of the new
standard.
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Following a thorough assessment of a number of significant contracts at yeat end, the group had only one
contract for which the software obligations were still being implemented at 31 December 2017. The contract
required a customised software that required significant development and where the performance obligation
could only be satisfied together with the delivery and installation of the hardware require for such project.
The performance obligation was therefore satisfied at a point in time only when the customer effectively took
control of the promised product. This took place during 2018. According to the 5 step model of IFRS 15, the
group had not yet satisfied the petformance obligation of the conttact at the end of 2017 and therefore
resulted in an adjustment of € 61,869 to the retained earnings (negative impact) of 1923 Investments plcat 1
January 2018. There are no expected impairments on the project and the adjustment was purely of a timing
nature in accordance with the first time adoption of the Standatd.

Contracts with multiple performance obligations

A number of the group’s contracts comprise a variety of petformance obligations including, but not limited
to, hardware, software, elements of design and customisation, after-sales services, and installation. Under
IFRS 15, the group must evaluate the separability of the promised goods ot setvices based on whether they
ate ‘distinct’. A promised good or service is ‘distinct’ if both:

* the customer benefits from the item either on its own or together with other readily available

resources, and
* it is ‘separately identifiable’ (ie the group does not provide a significant service integrating,
modifying or customising it).

While this represents significant new guidance, the implementation of this new guidance did not have a
significant impact on the timing ot amount of revenue recognised by the group in any year.

Apart from the effect of the impact noted above, there were no other adjustments to the group reserves at 1
January 2018 arising from the first time adoption of IFRS 15. A further analysis is therefore not required.

IFRS 9 ‘Financial Instruments’

IFRS 9 replaces IAS 39 ‘Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement’. It makes major changes to
the previous guidance on the classification and measurement of financial assets and introduces an ‘expected
credit loss” model for the impairment of financial assets.

When adopting IFRS 9, the group has applied transitional relief and opted not to restate prior periods. Any
differences arising from the adoption of IFRS 9 in relation to classification, measurement, and impairment
would have been recognised in retained earnings.

There was however no impact from the adoption of IFRS 9 on these financial statements.

The adoption of TFRS 9 has impacted the following area of the group:

* the impairment of financial assets applying the expected credit loss model. This affects the group’s trade
receivables and investments in debt-type assets measured at amortised cost. For contract assets arising from

IFRS 15 and trade receivables, the group applies a simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit
losses as these items do not have a significant financing component. Refer to Note 5.22.
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There have been no reclassification of financial instruments between measurement categories arising from
the first time application of IFRS 9. Nevertheless, the following table illustrates the categories where IFRS 9
applies and the balances on the categories before and after initial application.

Measurement category Carrying amount
Closing balance Opening balance
Original 1AS 39 New IFRS 9 at 31 December Adoption of at 1 January
category category 2017 IFRS 9 2018

Non-current financial assets
Loans and receivables Amortised cost  Amortised cost 6,476,110 - 6,476,110
Current financial assets
Loans and receivables Amortised cost  Amortised cost 732,378 - 732,378
Trade and other receivables Amortised cost  Amortised cost 14,513,649 - 14,513,649
Cash and cash equivalents Amortised cost  Amortised cost 3,231,078 - 3,231,078

There have been no changes to the classification or measurement of financial liabilities as a result of the
application of TFRS 9.

Since there were no reclassifications or remeasurements of financial assets and financial liabilities at 1 January
2018, a reconciliation of the statement of financial position balances from IAS 39 to IFRS 9 is not required.

4.2 Standards, amendments and Interpretations to existing Standards that are not yet
effective and have not been adopted early by the group

At the date of authorisation of these financial statements, several new, but not yet effective, Standards,
amendments to existing Standards, and Interpretations have been published by the TASB. None of these
Standards, amendments or Interpretations have been adopted early by the group.

Management anticipates that all relevant pronouncements will be adopted for the first period beginning on ot
after the effective date of the pronouncement. New Standatds, amendments and Interpretations neither
adopted nor listed below have not been disclosed as they are not expected to have a material impact on the
group’s financial statements.

IFRS 16 ‘Leases’

TFRS 16 will replace IAS 17 Leases’ and three related Interpretations. It completes the IASB’s long-running
project to overhaul lease accounting. Leases will be recorded in the statement of financial position in the
form of a right-of-use asset and a lease liability. There are two important reliefs provided by IERS 16 for
assets of low value and short-term leases of less than 12 months.

IFRS 16 is effective from periods beginning on or after 1 January 2019. Early adoption is permitted;
however, the group have decided not to eatly adopt.

Management is in the process of assessing the full impact of the Standard. So far, the group:

* has decided to make use of the practical expedient not to petform a full review of existing leases and apply
IFRS 16 only to new ot modified contracts. As some leases will be modified or renewed in 2019, the group
has reassessed these leases and concluded they will be recognised on the statement of financial position as a
right-of-use asset

* believes that the most significant impact will be that the group will need to recognise a right of use asset
and a lease liability for the office and operating buildings currently treated as operating leases. At 31
December 2018 the future minimum lease payments amounted to € 14,443,295, This will mean that the
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nature of the expense of the above cost will change from being an operating lease expense to depreciation
and interest expense.

The group is planning to adopt IFRS 16 on 1 January 2019 using the Standard’s modified retrospective
approach. Under this approach the cumulative effect of initially applying IFRS 16 is recognised as an
adjustment to equity at the date of initial application. Comparative information is not restated.

Choosing this transition approach tesults in further policy decisions the group need to make as there are
sevetal other transitional reliefs that can be applied. These relate to those leases previously held as opetating
leases and can be applied on a lease-by-lease basis. The group are currently assessing the impact of applying
these other transitional reliefs.

5 Summary of accounting policies
5.1 Overall considerations

"The consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the significant accounting policies and
measurement bases summarised below.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared from the financial statements of the companies
comprising the group as detailed in notes to the consolidated financial statements.

5.2 Presentation of financial statements

The consolidated financial statements are presented in accordance with TAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements

(IAS 1),

53 Basis of consolidation

The group financial statements consolidate those of the parent company and all of its subsidiaries as of 31
December 2018. The parent controls a subsidiary if it is exposed, or has rights, to vatiable teturns from its
involvement with the subsidiary and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the
subsidiary. The subsidiaties have a reporting date of 31 December.

All transactions and balances between group companies are eliminated on consolidation, including unrealised
gains and losses on transactions between group companies. Where unrealised losses on intra-group asset sales
ate teversed on consolidation, the underlying asset is also tested for impairment losses from the group
perspective. Amounts reported in the financial statements of subsidiaries have been adjusted where necessary
to ensure consistency with the accounting policies adopted by the group.

Profit or loss and other comprehensive income of subsidiaties acquired or disposed of during the year are
recognised from the effective date of acquisition, or up to the effective date of disposal, as applicable.

54 Business combinations

The group applies the acquisition method in accounting for business combinations. The consideration
transferred by the group to obtain control of a subsidiary is calculated as the sum of the acquisition-date fair
values of assets transferred, liabilities incurred and the equity interests issued by the group, which includes the
fair value of any asset or liability arising from a contingent consideration arrangement. Acquisition costs ate
expensed as incutred.

The group recognises identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed in a business combination regardless
of whether they have been previously recognised in the acquiree’s financial statements prior to the
acquisition. Assets acquired and liabilities assumed are generally measured at their acquisition-date fair values.
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5.5 Investment in subsidiaries

Investment in subsidiaries is included in the company’s statement of financial position at cost less any
impairment loss that may have arisen. Income from investment is recognised only to the extent of
distributions received by the company from post-acquisition profits. Distributions received in excess of such
profits are regarded as a recovery of the investment and are recognised as a teduction of the cost of the
investment.

At the end of each reporting period, the company reviews the carrying amount of its investment in
subsidiaries to determine whether there is any indication of impairment and, if any such indication exists, the
recoverable amount of the investment is estimated. An impairment loss is the amount by which the carrying
amount of an investment exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of fait value
less costs to sell and value in use. An impairment loss that has been previously recognised is reversed if the
carrying amount of the investment exceeds its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is reversed only to
the extent that the carrying amount of the investment does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined if no impairment loss had been previously recognised. Impairment losses and reversals are
tecognised immediately in profit or loss.

5.6 Investment in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the company has significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not control of joint control
over those policies.

A joint arrangement is an arrangement of which two or mote parties have joint control. Joint control is the
contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when decisions about the
relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties shating control. A joint venture is a joint
arrangement wheteby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net assets of
the arrangement.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates/ joint ventures are incotrporated in these consolidated
financial statements using the equity method of accounting, except when the investment is classified as held
for sale, in which case it is accounted for in accordance with IFRS 5 Non-cutrent Assets FHeld for Sale and
Discontinued Operations. Under the equity method, investments in associates/joint ventures ate initially
recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter for the post-acquisition change in the group's share of net assets of
the associates/joint ventures, less any impairment in the value of individual investments.

When the group's shate of losses of an associate/ joint venture exceeds the group's interest in that
associate/joint venture (which includes any long-term intetests that, in substance, form part of the group's
net investment in the associate/joint venture), the group discontinues recognising its share of further losses.
Additional losses are recognised only to the extent that the group has incutred legal or constructive
obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate or joint venture.

Any excess of the cost of acquisition over the group's shate of the net fait value of the identifiable assets and
liabilities of an associate/joint venture recognised at the date of acquisition is recognised as goodwill, which is
included within the carrying amount of the investment. Any excess of the group's share of the net fair value
of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost of acquisition, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

The requirements of TAS 39 are applied to determine whether there is evidence of any impairment loss with
respect to the group’s investment in an associate/joint venture. When necessaty, the entire carrying atmnount
of the investment (including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with TAS 36 Impairment of
Assets by comparing its recoverable amount (higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal) with
its catrying amount.
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5.7 Acquisition of entities and businesses under common control

The acquisition of subsidiaries under common control is accounted for under the principles of predecessor
accounting as from the date these subsidiaries are acquired by the holding company’s parent at their previous
cartying amounts of assets and liabilities included in the consolidated financial statements of the company’s
parent. Differences on acquisition between the consideration given in exchange for the acquired entities and
the amounts at which the assets and liabilities of the acquired are initially recognised ate included within

equity.

5.8 Acquisition of subsidiaries

The acquisition of subsidiaties that are not under common control is accounted for by applying the
acquisition method. The consideration is measured as the aggregate of the fair values, at the date of exchange
of assets given, liabilities incurred or assumed, and equity instruments issued by the acquirer in exchange for
control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs are recognised in profit ot loss as incurred, except for costs
to issue debt or equity securities.

The acquiree’s identifiable assets and liabilities that meet the conditions for recognition are recognised at their
fair values at the acquisition date, except as specifically required by other International Financial Reporting
Standards as adopted by the EU. A contingent liability assumed in a business combination is recognised at
the acquisition date if there is a present obligation that atises from past events and its fair value can be
measured reliably.

The results of subsidiaties are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date that control
commences until the date that control ceases. Where necessaty, in preparing these consolidated financial
statements, appropriate adjustments are made to the financial statements of subsidiaries to bring their
accounting policies in line with those used by group entities. Intra-group balances, transactions, income and
expenses are eliminated on consolidation.

5.9 Goodwill

Goodwill arising in a business combination that is accounted for using the acquisition method is recognised
as an asset at the date that control is acquired. Goodwill is measuted as the excess of (a) the aggregate of: (i)
the consideration transferred; (if) the amount of any non-controlling interests in the acquiree; and (iif) in a
business combination achieved in stages, the acquisition-date fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
equity interest in the acquiree; and (b) the net of the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets
acquired and the liabilities assumed.

The goodwill is initially recognised as an asset at cost and is subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Any gain on a bargain purchase, after reassessment, is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

5.10 Non-controlling interest

Non-controlling interests in the acquitee that are present ownership interests and entitle their shareholders to
a proportionate share of the entity’s net assets in the event of liquidation, may be initially measuted either at
the present ownership interests proportionate share in the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable
net assets ot at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis.
After initial recognition, non-controlling interests in the net assets consist of the amount of those interests at
the date of the original business combination and the non-controlling interests’ share of changes in equity
since the date of the combination. Non-controlling interests in the net assets of consolidated subsidiaries are
presented sepatately from the holding company’s owners’ equity thetein. N on-controlling intetests in the
profit ot loss and other comprehensive income of consolidated subsidiaties are also disclosed separately.
Total comprehensive income is attributed to non-controlling intetests even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance.
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5.11 Revenue recognition

Revenue for the group arises mainly from the sale and distribution of Apple Products as an Apple Premium
Reseller, as well as from the sale, maintenance and servicing of information technology solutions, security
systems and provides electronic payment solutions. The group is also engaged in providing road, sea and air
logistics services in Malta and in Poland.

To determine whether to tecognise revenue, the group follows a 5-step process:

Identifying the contract with a customer

Identifying the performance obligations

Determining the transaction price

Allocating the transaction price to the performance obligations
Recognising revenue when/as performance obligation(s) are satisfied.

Vi wN =

The group often enters into transactions involving a range of the group’s products and setvices, as described
above. In all cases, the total transaction price for a contract is allocated amongst the vatious performance
obligations based on their relative stand-alone selling prices. The transaction price for a contract excludes
any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Revenue is recognised either at a point in time or over time, when (or as) the group satisfies petformance
obligations by transferring the promised goods ot setvices to its customets.

The group recognises contract liabilities for consideration received in respect of unsatisfied performance
obligations and reports these amounts as other liabilities in the statement of financial position (see Note 33).
Similarly, if the group satisfies a performance obligation befote it receives the consideration, the group
recognises either a contract asset or a receivable in its statement of financial position, depending on whether
something other than the passage of time is required befote the consideration is due.

Sale and distribution of Apple products

Revenue from the sale of Apple products for a fixed fee is recognised when ot as the group transfers control
of the assets to the customer. Amounts receivable for products transferred are due upon receipt by the
customer, which is usually immediately upon the sale of the product to the customet. Conttol for these
products is transfered at the point in time and occurs when the customer takes undisputed delivery of the
goods.

The group provides a basic 1-year product watranty on its Apple products sold to customets. Undet the
terms of this warranty, customers can return the product for repair or replacement if it fails to petform in
accordance with published specifications. These watranties ate accounted for under IAS 37.

Sale of information technology solutions, security systems and other machinery

Revenue from the sale of information technology solutions, secutity systems and other machinery for a fixed
fee is recognised when or as the group transfers control of the assets to the customer. Invoices for products
and services transferred are due upon receipt by the customet, which is usually upon the sale of the product
to the customer and installation of the items or products sold. Control for these products is usually
transfered at the point in time and occurs when the customer takes undisputed delivery of the goods.

When such items are either customised ot sold together with significant integration setvices, the goods and
services represent a single combined petformance obligation over which control is considered to transfer
over time. This is because the combined product is unique to each customer (has no alternative use) and the
group has an enforceable right to payment for the wotk completed to date. Revenue fot these petformance
obligations is recognised over time as the customisation or integration wotk is petformed, using the cost-to-
cost method to estimate progress towards completion. As costs are generally incurred uniformly as the work
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progresses and are considered to be proportionate to the entity’s petformance, the cost-to-cost method
provides a faithful depiction of the transfer of goods and services to the customer.

Each major contract is nevertheless evaluated for revenue recognition on its own and the group determines
when control is effectively trannsfarred depending on the specific citcumstances.

For sales of software that are neither customised by the group not subject to significant integration services,
the licence period commences upon delivery. For sales of software subject to significant customisation or
integration services, the licence petiod begins upon commencement of the telated setvices.

Maintenance and servicing

The group entets into fixed price maintenance contracts with its customers for terms between one and three
years in length. Customers are required to pay eithet quartetly or yeatly in advance for each respective service
period and the relevant payment due dates are specified in each contract.

The group enters into agreements with its customers to petform regulatly scheduled maintenance services on
the vatious goods purchased from the group. Revenue is recognised over time based on the ratio between
the number of hours of maintenance setvices provided in the current petiod and the total number of such
hours expected to be provided under each contract. This method best depicts the transfer of services to the
customer because: (a) details of the setvices to be provided are specified as patt of the agreed maintenance
program relative to the maintenance requirements of the items sold, and (b) the group has a long histoty of
providing these services to its customers, allowing it to make teliable estimates of the total number of hours
involved in providing the setvice.

Consulting and development of IT systems

The group enters into contracts for the design, development and installation of I'T systems in exchange for a
fixed fee and recognises the related revenue over time. Due to the high degree of interdependence between
the various elements of these projects, they are accounted for as a single petformance obligation. When a
contract also includes promises to perform after-sales setvices, the total transaction price is allocated to each
of the distinct performance obligations identifiable undet the contract on the basis of its relative stand-alone
selling price.

To depict the progress by which the group transfets control of the systems to the customer, and to establish
when and to what extent revenue can be recognised, the group measures its progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation by comparing actual houts spent to date with the total estimated
hours required to design, develop, and install each system. The houts-to-houts basis provides the most
faithful depiction of the transfer of goods and setvices to each customer due to the group’s ability to make
reliable estimates of the total number of hours tequited to perform, arising from its significant historical
experience constructing similar systems.

Most such arrangements include detailed customer payment schedules. When payments received from
customers exceed revenue recognised to date on a patticular contract, any excess (a contract liability) is
reported in the statement of financial position (see Note 33).

The construction of I'T systems normally takes 10 - 12 months from commencement of design through to
completion of installation. As the period of time between customer payment and petformance will always be
one year ot less, the group applies the practical expedient in IFRS 15.63 and does not adjust the promised
amount of consideration for the effects of financing,.

In obtaining these contracts, the group incurs some incremental costs. As the amottisation petiod of these
costs, if capitalised, would be less than one year, the group makes use of the practical expedient in IFRS
15.94 and expenses them as they incur. Such inctremental costs ate not considered to be material.
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Payment Gateway

‘The group enters into transactions with parties for the access to a payment gateway. The group’s revenue is
mainly derived from the actual volume of traffic on the payment gateway and on other fixed chatges. The
price is agreed and established with the customer in written contracts and is allocated to the performance
obligation accordingly. Prices ate based on established amounts for such setvices. The transaction price for a
contract excludes any amounts collected on behalf of third parties.

Road, sea and air logistics services

Revenue from the provision of road, sea and air logistics setvices for an agreed price is recognised when or
as the group completes delivery to the customer. Invoices for services rendered are due upon completion of
the contracted service, which is usually immediately upon delivery to the customet. Control for these
products is transfered at the point in time and occurs when the customer takes undisputed delivery of the
goods on which the transportation service has been provided.

512 Interest and dividends

Intetest income and expenses ate reported on an acctual basis using the effective interest method. These are
reported within “finance income” and “finance costs’.

Dividends are recognised at the time the right to teceive payment is established.

5.13 Operating expenses

Operating expenses are recognised in profit ot loss upon utilisation of the service as incurred.

5.14 Borrowing costs

Botrowing costs include the costs incurred in obtaining external financing. Botrowing costs directly
attributable to the acquisition, construction ot production of qualifying assets, which atre assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for theit intended use o sale, ate capitalised from
the time that expenditure for these assets and borrowing costs are being incurred and activities that are
necessaty to prepare these assets for their intended use or sale are in progress. Borrowing costs ate
capitalised until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use ot sale. Botrowing costs
are suspended during extended periods in which active development is interrupted. All other botrowing costs
are recognised as an expense in profit or loss in the petiod in which they are incutred.

5.15 Employee benefits

The group contributes towards the state pension in accordance with local legislation. The only obligation of
the group is to make the required contributions. Costs ate expensed in the petiod in which they are incurred.

5.16 Share based payments

The group operates equity-settled share-based remuneration plans for one of its senior officers.

The fair value of the services received in exchange for the grant of share-based payments is determined
indirectly by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments granted. Theit fair value is appraised at the
grant date.

All equity-settled share-based remuneration is ultimately recognised as an expense in the consolidated profit
or loss with a corresponding credit to retained earnings. The equity-settled shate-based remuneration is
recognised as a receivable from a subsidiary in the statement of financial position of the company with a
corresponding credit to retained earnings.
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5.17 Foreign currency translation
Foreign currency transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency of the respective group entity using
the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions (spot exchange rate). Foreign exchange gains
and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the remeasurement of monetary items
denominated in foreign currency at year-end exchange rates are recognised in the profit or loss.

Non-monetary items are not retranslated at the yeat-end and are measured at historical cost (translated using
the exchange rates at the transaction date), except for non monetary items measured at fair value which are
translated using the exchange rates at the date when fair value was determined.

In the group's financial statements, all assets, liabilities and transactions of group entities with a functional
cutrency other than the Euro are translated into Euro upon consolidation. The functional cutrency of the
entities in the group has remained unchanged during the reporting petriod.

On consolidation, assets and liabilities have been translated into Euto at the closing rate at the reporting date.
Income and expenses have been translated into Euto at the average rate over the tepotting period.

Exchange differences are charged or credited to other comprehensive income and recognised in the currency
translation reserve in equity. On disposal of a foreigh opetation, the related cumulative translation
differences recognised in equity are reclassified to profit or loss and ate recognised as patt of the gain or loss
on disposal.

5.18 Intangible assets

An intangible asset is recognised if it is probable that the expected fututre economic benefits that are
attributable to the asset will flow to the company and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably.

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost, being the fair value at the acquisition date for intangible assets
acquired in a business combination. Expenditure on an intangible asset is recognised as an expense in the
period when it is incurred unless it forms part of the cost of the asset that meets the tecognition criteria or
the item is acquired in a business combination and cannot be recognised as an intangible asset, in which case
it forms part of goodwill at the acquisition date.

The useful life of intangible assets is assessed to determine whether it is finite or indefinite. Intangible assets
with a finite useful life are amottised. Amortisation is charged to profit or loss so as to write off the cost of
intangible assets less any estimated residual value, over their estimated useful lives. The amortisation method
applied, the residual value and the useful life ate reviewed, and adjusted if apptoptiate, at the end of each
reporting period.

Intangible assets are derecognised on disposal ot when no future economic benefits are expected from their
use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from derecognition represent the difference between the net disposal
proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount, and are included in profit ot loss in the petiod of derecognition.

Patents and trademarks

Patents and trademarks are classified as intangible assets. After initial recognition, patents and trademarks are
carried at cost less any accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Patents and
trademarks are amortised on a straight-line basis over ten yeats.
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Internally developed software

Expenditure on the research phase of projects to develop new customised software is tecognised as an
expense as incurred.

Costs that are directly attributable to a project’s development phase are recognised as intangible assets,
provided they meet the following recognition requirements:

* the development costs can be measured teliably

* the project is technically and commetcially feasible

* the group intends to and has sufficient resoutces to complete the project
¢ the group has the ability to use or sell the software

* the software will generate probable future economic benefits.

Development costs not meeting these criteria for capitalisation are expensed as incurred.

Ditectly atttibutable costs include employee costs incurred on software development along with an
appropriate portion of relevant overheads and botrowing costs.

All finite-lived intangible assets, including capitalised internally developed software, are accounted for using
the cost model whereby capitalised costs ate amortised on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful
lives. Residual values and useful lives are reviewed at each reporting date. In addition, they are subject to
impairment testing as described in note 5.21. The following useful lives ate applied:

Years
Software 3

Any capitalised internally developed softwate that is not yet complete is not amortised but is subject to
impairment testing as desctibed in Note 5.21.

Amortisation is included within depreciation, amortisation and impairment of non-financial assets.

Subsequent expenditures on the maintenance of computet software and brand names atre expensed as
incurred.

5.19 Plant and equipment

The group’s property, plant and equipment are classified into the following classes — land and buildings, plant
and equipment, motor vehicles, furniture, fittings and othet equipment and computer equipment.

Property, plant and equipment are initially measured at cost. Subsequent costs ate included in the asset’s
carrying amount when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the
group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. Expenditure on tepaits and maintenance of
property, plant and equipment is recognised as an expense when incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less any accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.

Property, plant and equipment are derecognised on disposal or when no future economic benefits ate
expected from their use or disposal. Gains or losses arising from detecognition represent the difference
between the net disposal proceeds, if any, and the carrying amount, and are included in profit or loss in the
petiod of derecognition.
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Depreciation

Depreciation commences when the depreciable assets ate available for use and is charged to profit or loss so
as to write off the cost, less any estimated residual value, over its estimated useful lives, using the straight-line
method, on the following bases:

Years
Improvements to premises 25-5
Plant and equipment 10-33
Motor vehicles 10-25
Furniture, fittings and other equipment 10-25
Computer equipment 14-33

The depreciation method applied, the residual value and the useful life are reviewed, and adjusted if
appropriate, at the end of each repotting period.

5.20 Leases
Operating leases

Operating leases are those leases where a significant portion of the tisk and rewards of ownership are
effectively retained by the lessor.

Payments made under operating leases ate recognised in the income statement on a straight-line basis over
the lease term, where the lessee does not bear substantially all of the tisks and rewards of ownership
associated with the asset. Associated costs, such as maintenance and insurance, are expensed as incurred.

Finance leases

Management applies judgment in consideting the substance of a lease agreement and whether it transfets
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the leased asset. Key factors considered
include the length of the lease term in relation to the economic life of the asset, the present value of the
minimum lease payments in relation to the assets value and whether the group obtains ownership of the asset
at the end of the lease term.

Finance leases are classified at the lease’s inception at the fair value of the leased asset o, if lower, the present
value of minimum lease payments. The cotresponding rental obligations, net of finance lease charges, are
included in other short-term and long-term trade and other payables. Each lease payment is allocated
between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged to the profit or loss over the lease petiod
so as to produce a constant periodic rate of intetest on the temaining balance of the liability for each petiod.

The group does not have any assets under finance lease.

5.21 Impairment testing of intangible assets and plant and equipment

For impairment assessment purposes, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which there ate largely
independent cash inflows (cash-generating units). As a result, some assets are tested individually for
impairment and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.

All other individual assets or cash-generating units are tested for impairment whenever events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the cartying amount may not be recoverable.

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset’s or cash-generating unit’s carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the greater of its fair value less costs to
sell and its value in use. To determine the value in use, the group’s management estimates expected future
cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to calculate the
present value of those cash flows. Discount factors are determined individually for each cash-generating unit
and reflect their respective risk profiles as assessed by the group’s management.
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Impairment losses are recognised immediately in profit or loss. Impairment losses for cash-generating units
are charged pro rata to the assets in the cash-generating unit. All assets are subsequently reassessed for
indications that an impairment loss previously recognised may no longer exist. An impairment charge that
has been recognised is reversed if the cash-generating unit’s recoverable amount exceeds its carrying amount.
An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss
had been recognised.

5.22 Financial instruments

Recognition, initial measurement and derecognition

Financial assets and financial liabilities ate recognised when the group and the company become a patty to
the contractual provisions of the financial instrument.

Financial assets are derecognised when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset expire,
or when the financial asset and substantially all the risks and tewards are transferred. A financial liability is
derecognised when it is extinguished, discharged, cancelled or expires.

Classification and initial measurement of financial assets

Except for those trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing component and are measured at
the transaction price in accordance with IFRS 15, all financial assets are initially measured at fair value
adjusted for transaction costs (whete applicable).

Financial assets, other than those designated and effective as hedging instruments, are classified into the
following categoties:

* amortised cost
* fair value through profit ot loss (FVIPL)
* fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI).

In the petiods presented the group and the company do not have any financial assets categotised as FVIPL
and FVOCI.

The classification is determined by both:

* the entity’s business model for managing the financial asset
* the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset.

All income and expenses relating to financial assets that ate recognised in profit or loss are presented within
finance costs, finance income or other financial items, except for impairment of trade receivables which is
presented within other expenses.

Subsequent measurement of financial assets

Financial assets at amortised cost

Financial assets are measured at amottised cost if the assets meet the following conditions (and

are not designated as FVTPL):

* they are held within a business model whose objective is to hold the financial assets and collect
its contractual cash flows

* the contractual terms of the financial assets give tise to cash flows that are solely payments of
ptincipal and interest on the principal amount outstanding
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After initial recognition, these ate measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
Discounting is omitted where the effect of discounting is immaterial. The group’s cash and cash equivalents,
trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Financial assets that are held within a different business model other than ‘hold to collect’ or ‘hold to collect
and sell’ are categorised at fair value through profit and loss. Further, itrespective of business model financial
assets whose contractual cash flows are not solely payments of principal and interest ate accounted for at
FVTPL. All derivative financial instruments fall into this category, except for those designated and effective
as hedging instruments, for which the hedge accounting requitements apply.

Assets in this category are measured at fair value with gains or losses recognised in profit ot loss. The fair
values of financial assets in this category are determined by reference to active market transactions or using a
valuation technique whete no active market exists.

As already indicated above, the group held no financial assets at fait value through profit or loss.
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)
Financial assets at FVOCIT ate classified accordingly if the assets meet the following conditions:

* they are held under a business model whose objective it is “hold to collect” the associated cash
flows and sell, and

* the contractual terms of the financial assets give rise to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Any gains or losses recognised in other comprehensive income (OCI) will be recycled upon derecognition of
the asset.

As already indicated above, the group held no financial assets at fair value through profit or loss.

Impairment of financial assets

IFRS 9’s impairment requirements use mote forward-looking information to recognise expected credit losses
— the ‘expected credit loss (ECL) model’. This replaces IAS 39’s ‘incurted loss model’. Instruments within the
scope of the new requirements included loans and other debt-type financial assets measured at amottised cost
and FVOCI (the group had no debt-type financial assets at FVOCI), trade receivables, contract assets
recognised and measured under IFRS 15 and loan commitments and some financial guarantee contracts (for
the issuer) that are not measured at fair value through profit or loss (the group had no financial guarantee
contracts).

Recognition of credit losses is no longer dependent on the group first identifying a credit loss event. Instead
the group considers a broader range of information when assessing credit tisk and measuting expected credit
losses, including past events, current conditions, reasonable and supportable forecasts that affect the expected
collectability of the future cash flows of the insttument.

In applying this forward-looking approach, a distinction is made between:

* financial instruments that have not deteriorated significantly in credit quality since initial
recognition or that have low credit tisk (‘Stage 1°) and

¢ financial instruments that have detetiorated significantly in credit quality since initial recognition

and whose credit risk is not low (‘Stage 2°).

‘Stage 3’ would cover financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment at the reporting date.
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12-month expected credit losses’ are recognised for the fitst category while “lifetime expected credit losses’
are recognised for the second categoty.

Measurement of the expected credit losses is determined by a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses
over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Previous financial asset impairment under IAS 39

In the prior year, the impairment of trade receivables was based on the incurred loss model. Individually
significant receivables were consideted for impairment when they were past due or when other objective
evidence was received that a specific counterparty will default. Receivables that were not considered to be
individually impaired were teviewed for impaitment in groups, which are determined by reference to the
industry and region of the counterparty and other shared credit risk characteristics. The impairment loss
estimate was then based on recent historical countetparty default rates for each identified group.

Trade and other receivables and contract assets

The group makes use of a simplified approach in accounting for trade and other receivables as well as
contract assets and records the loss allowance as lifetime expected credit losses. These are the expected
shottfalls in contractual cash flows, considering the potential for default at any point during the life of the
financial instrument. In calculating, the group uses its historical experience, external indicators and forward-
looking information to calculate the expected credit losses using a provision mattix.

The group assess impairment of trade receivables on a collective basis as they possess shared credit risk
characteristics they have been grouped based on the days past due. Refet to note 42.2 for a detailed analysis
of how the impairment requirements of IFRS 9 are applied.

Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

As the accounting for financial liabilities remains largely the same under IFRS 9 compared to IAS 39, the
group’s financial liabilities were not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 9. Howevet, for completeness, the
accounting policy is disclosed below.

‘The Group’s financial liabilities include borrowings and trade and other payables and other financial
liabilities.

Financial liabilities are initially measured at fait value, and, where applicable, adjusted for transaction costs
unless the group designates a financial liability at fair value through profit or loss.

Subsequently, financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method except
for derivatives and financial liabilities designated at FVIPL, which are catried subsequently at fair value with
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss (other than detivative financial instruments that are designated and
effective as hedging instruments). The group does not hold detivatives and financial liabilities designated at
FVTPL.

All interest-related charges and, if applicable, changes in an insttument’s fair value that ate reported in profit
or loss are included within finance costs or finance income.
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5.23 Inventories

Inventortes are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method and comprises expenditure incutred in acquiring the inventoties and other costs incurred in
bringing the inventories to theit present location and condition. The cost of finished goods and work in
progress comprises direct matetials and, where applicable, direct labour costs and an appropriate proportion
of production overheads based on the normal level of activity. Net realisable value represents the estimated
selling price in the ordinary course of business less the estimated costs of completion and the costs to be
incurred in marketing, selling and distribution.

5.24 [Income taxes

Current and deferred tax is recognised in profit or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the defetred tax is also dealt with in other
comprehensive income or in equity, as approptiate.

Current tax is based on the taxable result for the period. The taxable result for the period differs from the
result as reported in profit or loss because it excludes items which are non-assessable or disallowed and it
further excludes items that are taxable or deductible in other periods. It is calculated using tax rates that have
been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting petiod.

Deferred tax is accounted for using the balance sheet liability method in respect of temporaty differences
arising from differences between the cartying amount of assets and liabilities in the financial statements and
the corresponding tax bases used in the computation of taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary differences and deferred tax assets,
including deferred tax assets for the catry forward of unused tax losses and unused tax ctedits, are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which deductible temporary
differences can be utilised.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the temporary difference arises from the initial recognition of
goodwill. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the tempotary difference atises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination) of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that
affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are not recognised for taxable temporary differences arising on investments in
subsidiaries/associates/intetests in joint arrangements where the company is able to control the timing of the
reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporaty difference will not teverse in the
foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences arising on
investments in subsidiaries/associates/interests in joint arrangements whete it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which the temporary difference can be utilised and it is probable that the tempotary
difference will reverse in the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the end of each tepotting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all ot patt of the
asset to be utilised.

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the petiod when the asset is realised or
the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Current tax assets and liabilities are offset when the group has a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognised amounts and intends either to settle on a net basis, ot to realise the asset and settle the liability
simultaneously.
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Deferred tax assets and liabilities ate offset when the group entities have a legally enforceable right to set off
its current tax assets and liabilities and the deferred tax assets and liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity or different taxable entities which intend either
to settle current tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, ot to tealise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously, in each future petiod in which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are
expected to be settled or recovered.

5.25 Discontinued operations

A discontinued operation is a component of an entity that either has been disposed of or is classified as held
for sale and that represents a separate major line of business ot geographical area of operations ot is part of a
single co-ordinated plan to dispose of a separate major line of business or geographical area of operations ot
is 2 subsidiary acquired exclusively with a view to resale. Classification as a discontinued operation occurs
upon disposal or when the operation meets the criteria to be classified as held for sale, if earlier.

5.26 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral patt of the group’s cash management ate included as a component of cash
and cash equivalents for the purpose of the statement of cash flows and are presented in current liabilities in
the statement of financial position.

5.27 Equity and reserves

Share capital represents the nominal value of shares that have been issued.
Redemptions or refinancing of equity instruments are recognised as changes in equity.

Retained earnings include current period results as disclosed in the income statement less dividend
distributions.

Translation reserve comprises foreign currency translation differences atising from the translation of
financial statements of the group’s entities denominated in foreign currencies.

Dividend distributions payable to equity shareholders are included with short-term financial liabilities when
the dividends are approved in general meeting prior to the end of the reporting period.

5.28 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions for legal disputes, onerous contracts ot other claims ate recognised when the group and the
company have a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that an
outflow of economic resources will be required from the group and the company and amounts can be
estimated reliably. Timing ot amount of the outflow may still be uncertain.

Restructuring provisions are recognised only if a detailed formal plan for the restructuring has been
developed and implemented, or management has at least announced the plan’s main features to those
affected by it. Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.

Provisions are measured at the estimated expenditute required to settle the present obligation, based on the
most reliable evidence available at the reporting date, including the risks and uncertainties associated with
the present obligation. Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will
be required in settlement is determined by consideting the class of obligations as a whole. Provisions are
discounted to their present values, whete the time value of money is material.
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Any reimbursement that the group can be virtually certain to collect from a third party with respect to the
obligation is recognised as a separate asset. However, this asset may not exceed the amount of the related
provision.

In those cases where the possible outflow of economic resoutces as a result of present obligations is
considered improbable or remote, no liability is recognised.

5.29 Significant management judgement in applying accounting policies and
estimation uncertainty

When preparing the financial statements management undertakes a number of judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the recognition and measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses.

Significant management judgements

The following are the judgements made by management in applying the accounting policies of the group
that have the most significant effect on the financial statements.

Recognition of service and contract revenues

As revenue from after-sales maintenance agreements and consulting and development of systems contracts
is recognised over time, the amount of revenue recognised in a reporting period depends on the extent to
which the petformance obligation has been satisfied. For after-sales maintenance agreements this requires
an estimate of the quantity of the setvices to be provided, based on historical expetience with similar
contracts. In a similar way, recognising revenue for consulting and development of systems contracts also
requires significant judgment in determining the estimated number of hours required to complete the
promised work when applying the hours-to-houts method desctibed in Note 5.11. Management however
considers that any variance in estimates on ongoing contracts would be insignificant to the group.

Capitalisation of internally developed software

Distinguishing the research and development phases of 2 new customised softwate project and determining
whether the recognition requirements for the capitalisation of development costs are met requires
judgement. After capitalisation, management monitors whether the recognition requirements continue to be
met and whether there are any indicators that capitalised costs may be impaired (see Note 5.18).

Recognition of deferred tax assets

The extent to which deferred tax assets can be recognised is based on an assessment of the probability that
future taxable income will be available against which the deductible temporaty differences and tax loss
catty-forwatds can be utilised. In addition, significant judgement is required in assessing the impact of any
legal or economic limits or uncertainties in vatious tax jurisdictions (see Note 5.24).

Estimation uncertainty

Information about estimates and assumptions that have the most significant effect on recognition and
measurement of assets, liabilities, income and expenses is provided below. Actual results may be
substantially different.

Impairment of intangible assets including goodwill and tangible assets

An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the asset's or cash-generating unit's carrying
amount exceeds its recoverable amount. To determine the recoverable amount, management estimates
expected future cash flows from each cash-generating unit and determines a suitable interest rate in order to
calculate the present value of those cash flows (see note 5.21). In the process of measuring expected future
cash flows management makes assumptions about future operating results. These assumptions relate to
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future events and circumstances. The actual results may vary, and may cause significant adjustments to the
group's assets within the next financial yeat.

In most cases, determining the applicable discount rate involves estimating the appropriate adjustment to
market risk and the appropriate adjustment to asset-specific risk factors.

The group tests goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life annually for impairment or more
frequently if there are indications that goodwill or intangibles might be impaired. Determining whether the
carrying amounts of these assets can be realised requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
cash generating units. The value in use calculation requires the directors to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash generating unit and a suitable discount rate in otder to calculate present
value.

Goodwill atising on a business combination is allocated, to the cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are
expected to benefit from that business combination.

At 31 December 2018, goodwill was allocated as follows:

* €21,368,029 (2017: € 22,833,011) to the polish subsidiaty iSpot Poalnd SP. Z.0.0. which operates
the Apple Premium Reseller Business.

* € 3,357,248 (2017: € 3,357,248) to APCO Systems Limited which operates the electronic payment
gateway.

® € 2,671,762 (2017: € 2,671,763) to APCO Limited which operates in the business of selling and
maintenance of I'T" solutions and secutity systems.

® €1,464,476 (2017: € 1,464,476) to PTL Limited business.

® € 25,424,366 (2017: € 25,674,834) to Hili Logistics group business

In 2017, the group acquired Hili Logistics Group. As a result of this acquisition, goodwill amounting to
€ 25,674,834 was generated.

CGU — Retail and I'T Solutions (Poland)

The tecoverable amount of the CGUs is determined from the value in use calculation. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount tates, growth rates and expected changes
to selling prices and direct costs during the period. The ditectots estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The
growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The assessment of recoverability of the cattying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life includes:

e forecasted cash flow projections for the next three years and projection of terminal value using  the
perpetuity method,;

¢ growth rates to perpetuity of 2.0%; and

® usc of 13.2% (pre-tax) (2017: 11.5%) to discount the projected cash flows to net present values

Based on the above assessment, the directors expect the catrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets
with an indefinite useful life to be recoverable.
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CGU — Payment Processing Services

The recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined from the value in use calculation. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regatding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to
selling prices and direct costs during the period. The ditectors estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The
growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and ditect costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The assessment of recoverability of the cattying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life includes:

e forecasted cash flow projections for the next three years and projection of terminal value using  the
perpetuity method;

® growth rates to perpetuity of 2.0%; and

® use of 17.2% (pre-tax) (2017: 15.1%) to discount the projected cash flows to net present values

Based on the above assessment, the directors expect the cattying amount of goodwill and intangible assets
with an indefinite useful life to be recoverable.

CGU —IT Solutions and Security Systems

The recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined from the value in use calculation. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth rates and expected changes to
selling prices and direct costs during the petiod. The directors estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The
growth rates are based on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The assessment of recoverability of the carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with indefinite
useful life includes:

e forecasted cash flow projections for the next three yeats and projection of terminal value using  the
perpetuity method;

e growth rates to perpetuity of 2.0%; and

e use of 13.2% - 17.1% (pre-tax) (2017: 16.2% - 21.8%) to discount the projected cash flows to net
present values

Based on the above assessment, the directors expect the catrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets
with an indefinite useful life to be recoverable.

CGU — Hili Logisties group

The directors of Hili Logistics group consider that the logistics business represents one single, consistent
and homogenous operating segment. In defining this assumption for the putpose of testing goodwill for
impairment, the directors consider that although the entity has essentially three operating interests, each
component on its own is not representative of a separate component of the group’s operations. Motreover
decisions about resource allocation are made fot the logistics operations of Malta and Poland as a whole. In
view of this the directors consider the logistics business to be one cash-genetating unit (CGU).

The recoverable amount of the CGUs is determined from the value in use calculation. The key assumptions
for the value in use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, gtowth rates and expected changes to
selling prices and direct costs during the petiod. The directors estimate discount rates using pre-tax rates
that reflect current market assessments of the tite value of money and the risks specific to the CGUs. The
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growth rates are based on industry growth fotecasts. Changes in selling prices and direct costs are based on
past practices and expectations of future changes in the market.

The assessment of recoverability of the carrying amount of goodwill and the investments held by the
company includes:

e forecasted cash flow projections for the next three yeats and projection of terminal value using the
petpetuity method;

e orowth rates of 2.0%; and

® use of 8.7% - 12.8% (pre-tax) (2017: 11.8% - 15.7%) to discount the projected cash flows to net
present values

During the year ended 31 December 2017, the directors recognised an impairment loss of € 2,000,000.
Based on the above assessment, the directors expect the carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries and
assoctates and the carrying amount of goodwill at 31 December 2018 to be recoverable.

Useful lives of depreciable assets

Management reviews the useful lives of depreciable assets at each reporting date, based on the expected
utility of the assets to the group. Actual results, however, may vary due to technical obsolescence.

Inventories

Management estimates the net realisable values of inventories, taking into account the most reliable
evidence available at each reporting date. The future realisation of these inventories may be affected by
future technology or other market-driven changes that may reduce future selling prices.

Business combinations

Management uses valuation techniques when determining the fair values of certain assets and liabilities
acquired in a business combination (see Note 5.4).

6 Segment reporting

The group operates four (2017: three business) activities which are the sale of retail and IT solutions in
Poland predominately as an Apple Premium Reseller, the sale of payment processing services, the provision
of I'T" solutions and security systems and the provision of road, sea and air logistics setvices. Each of these
operating segments is managed separately as each of these lines requires local resources. All inter segment
transfers for management setvices are carried out on a cost basis.

The accounting policy for identifying segments is based on internal management reporting information that is
regularly reviewed by the chief operating decision maker.

Revenue repotted below represents revenue generated from external customers. Thete were no intersegment
sales in the year. The group's reportable segments under IFRS 8 are direct sales attributable to each line of
business.

The group operated in two principal geographical ateas -Malta (country of domicile) and Poland. The sale of
payment processing services and the provision of IT solutions and security systems are derived from Malta
whilst the sale of Apple products is derived from Poland. The provision of road, sea and air logistics services
is carried out in Malta and in Poland

In 2018 and 2017, the group did not have any clients which individually represented 10% or mote of the total
revenue of the group.

As at the end of the reporting period the total amount of intangible assets and propetty, plant and equipment
in amounted to € 12,099,714 (2017: € 12,724,382) and € 6,629,098 (2017: €7,874,394) respectively.
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Measurement of operating segment profit or loss, assets and liabilities
Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment after allocation of central administration costs
and finance costs based on setvices and finance provided. This is the measure reported to the chief operating

decision maker for the purposes of resource allocation and assessment of segment performance.

The accounting policies of the reportable segments are the same as the group's accounting policies described
in note 5.

Reconciliations of reportable segment tevenues, profit or loss, assets and liabilities to consolidated totals are
reported below:

Profit and loss before tax from continuing operations

2018 2017
€ €
Total profit for reportable segments 1,767,790 2,381,316

Unallocated amounts:
Interest expense (2,740,165) (2,265,164)
Other unallocated amounts (244,979) (182,318)
(1,217,354) (66,166)

Assets

2018 2017
€ €
Total assets for reportable segments 71,890,441 81,961,767

Elimination of receivables

Unallocated amounts:

(57,985,140)

(49,352,974)

Property, plant and equipment 15,500 31,486
Goodwill 54,285,881 56,001,331
Intangible assets 10,746,987 12,559,588
Loans and receivables 42 370,244 27,547,732
Cash and cash equivalents 1,803,433 247,418
Other unallocated amounts (2,333,604) (10,505,992)
120,793,742 118,490,356
Liabilities

2018 2017
€ €
Total liabilities for reportable segments 80,425,653 52,957,565
Elimination of liabilities (57,985,140) (49,352,974)

Unallocated amounts:
Bank loans 300,000 10,642,762
Debt securities in issue 35,515,557 35,434,649
Trade and other payables 33,588,410 35,271,531
Other unallocated amounts (9,368,459) (174,001)
82,476,021 84,779,532




onuaaas “Apuanbasuo)) +/ 10z FquIesa UX pammboe sea JuswSos sy sours g

1£€'809 (61£°€59) 2.0'205 89S/ = 18088 G/8'GSE 9lg'oLe
CES6LL Y8 (6£5'25¢ 6Y) 90Sv.LL 18 G9G°.G6'CS YO¥'€.1°0L 89¥'079'9 Lby'9G69 9¥Z'/81'GE
96v'660'L - 198G Ge9'e60’L AR R €1€'06 ¥69'6 6¥€'0€9'C
9G€'067 8L L (eeL'evy'zel) 1Z€'2.6'881 19/°196'18 R VTACT LSy'GGLL 6192502 9/2'98%'9¢
€9/'v6.'L (169'¢/) vSc'28l 091°989°L = L9V'68 08.'L1L €16'8/G°L
(991°99) (Gz6'Lrl'el) 6Zr L6V L1 0€€'06l ' = L1261 #85°L00°1 629'G86
G/¥'GeG'/6 (rol'szl'e) 098°/¥G'L 6121166 & gzL'orlelL 6807252 ¥0S '8y 'v8
¥19'251 (Lp9CeL’L) 160'28. 0.1'€0S [AIRA] (8se’12) 02€'€9S (¥2s'161)
120’9128 (009'€50°29) 896'¢0L 69 €69'GZY'08 r0'Sov's 128’808, 2G€°108°C LEV'OLY'PO
(6£0'€99°1) - (CES'Y) (£05°859°1) (tzg’l) (o6178c1) (oze'eze) (021'681°1)
rL'€6L°02) (€86'82£°0L 1) ¥82'2€T'6S1 L0681 L VGTY6L'L £66'652'8 L8Z'L96'E 916'898'1LG
£€99°29¥'¢C (599°0%) L¥0'66 18C'Y0¥'C €ol'ogl Lyvoll 186°/1¢ 2010681
(LPLY90'1) (916z0€'0) G86'69¥C 06.°29."1 cop'gle (165'901) L87'609'L (605'€S)
16/'Zeo'ez) {(0Z1'85€21) zer'ezl's 6.£°1GZ'CEL €65'/82'01 66.°'€55°CL SS9zl Z87'689'66
3 3 3 3 3 Ed 3 3
pajepijosuo)  spuswiysnipe  pajesojeun lejol «S9oIAIaS swajshs S92IAI3S (eluewoy
pue sonsibo) Jie Ajunosss pue Buissaooud pue puejod)
suogeulwi3 pue eas ‘pue suopnjog || Juawied suonjos
11 pue jlejay

‘S1Uawyalels [EDURUL} 98913 Ut pspnpur j0u ST /10T *OF uCUdﬂM@w ssaursng jey) jo sasuadxo pue
0c wr wn 1813 9yl J03 PR31EPIOSTOD U93q aaey uﬁ@ﬁﬁwvw $3014J98 mu.ﬁww.wo_ﬂ 9] JO synsar YT, %

asuadxs xe] awoou|

saliqelf Juswbag

ainjipuadxs |eyden

sjesse juswbag

uonesiHowe pue uopeaidag
Xe} 810429 Woid

snuaAay
1102

9SUadXa Xe)} aWoou|

saniiqel| juswbag
ain)ipuadxs |eyden

sjesse Juswbag

uoliesiyowe pue uonepaidag
Xe) 210499 10.d

anuanay
8102

MO[Rq Porre1op 21 uﬁogu.wuww OMﬂNHHOQv.H an— mvﬁan—ﬂﬂ pue sjosse J1noqe QOﬁNEHOMC..—. PUE SI9WIOISND [eUIa1Xo woIJ wQOﬁNHOQO wgﬁﬁ.ﬂQOU WO SINsax pue onuaaax m_QDOHw 9T,

A4

810Z 19qwieo3Q L€ papua 1eak ay) 104
sjuswiaje)s |eidueul) pajepijosuod pue jioday

*2°1"d sjuswysaauj £zZ6l



1923 Investments p.l.c. 48
Report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

7 Revenue

Revenue represents the amount receivable for goods sold and services rendered duting the period from
continuing operations, net of any indirect taxes as follows:

The group The group The company The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Sale of goods 92,843,470 90,226,608 - -
Logistics and transport services* 16,407,653 - - -
Rendering of services and development 5,951,850 1,657,916 5 .
Maintenance, support and servicing 2,947,712 3,122,962 = -
Payment gateway services 3,872,166 2,524,089 - -
Licenses - 3,900 - -
Management fees - - 1,080,000 420,000
122,022,751 97,535,475 1,080,000 420,000

*As explained in note 6, the logistics and transpott setvices business was acquited in December 2017 and
therefore revenue from that business is not included in the comparative figures.

Assets related to contracts with customers include amounts that the group expects to receive from
performance obligations that have been satisfied before it receives the consideration and has not invoiced
such amounts by the end of the yeat.

The following are the amounts recognised as contract assets at the end of the repotting petiods presented:

The group The group

2018 2017

€ €

Contract assets relating to rendering of services and development 659,727 -
Contract assets relating to maintenance, support and servicing 58,552 =
Contract assets relating to commission income accrued on gateway 186,779 -
905,058 -

Had the group reclassified contract assets for the previous financial year, such assets would have amounted to
€ 1,083,323. The group has elected not to reclassify priot petiod amounts as petrmitted by IFRS 15.

Contract assets have decreased since the group still had a number of significant projects that had not yet been
billed for performance obligations that have been satisfied by the end of 2017. A number of these projects
have been completed during the current financial year. The group does not expect any loss allowances from
such amounts, as these are due from customers with no history of losses and which ate considered of good
credit quality. The assessment of credit losses on balances at 31 December 2018 did not result in any material
amount and considered by management to be insignificant.

Unsatisfied long-term performance obligations

The following aggregated amounts of transaction prices relate to the petformance obligations from existing
contracts that are unsatisfied or pattially unsatisfied as at 31 December 2018:

2019 2020 2021 Later
€ € € €
Revenue expected to be recognised 751,068 754,674 575,102 53,733

Transaction prices allocated to unsatisfied ot partially unsatisfied performance obligations at 31 December
2017 are not disclosed as permitted under the transitional provisions of IFRS 15.
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8 Other operating income

Other operating income

9 Investment income

Other interest income

Intra-group interest income

Interest income from related parties
Dividends from subsidiaries
Dividends from associate

10 Finance costs

Interest on bank loan

Interest on bond

Other interest payable
Intra-group interest payable
Other finance costs
Amortisation of bond issue costs

49

The group The group
2018 2017

€ €

81,237 10,686
81,237 10,686

The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)

€ € € €

17,718 87,399 17,718 -
161,587 95,514 764,598 260,344
33,027 - 489 -

- - 4,200,401 4,966,006

- 326,071 - -

202,332 508,984 4,983,206 5,226,350
The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)

€ € € €
687,932 505,297 - -
1,836,000 1,836,000 1,836,000 1,836,000
35,255 - 32,296 22,406
89,759 45129 533,294 202,786
10,312 234,035 - -
80,907 80,907 80,907 80,907
2,740,165 2,701,368 2,482,497 2,142,099
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11 Profit (loss) before tax

The profit (loss) before tax is stated after charging/(crediting):

50

The group The group The company The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Depreciation and amortisation 2,304,569 1,794,763 1,000 -
Net exchange differences 166,031 (117,840) - -

As explained in note 6, the logistics and transport services business was acquired in December 2017 and
therefote expenses relating to that business were not included in the comparative figutes. This new business
accounts for €4m of the increase in administrative expenses which have increased by a total of €6.2m
compated to the previous year. The other increases comprise a management fee of €0.66m charged by Hili
Ventutes Limited and other general increase in costs across the group’s divisions.

The analysis of the amounts that are payable to the auditors and that are required to be disclosed as follows:

Group

Total remuneration payable to the parent company’s auditors in respect of the audit of the financial
statements and the undertakings included in the consolidated financial statements amounted to € 67,493
(2017: € 57,000) and the remuneration payable to the other auditors in respect of the audits of the
undertakings included in the consolidated financial statements amounted to € 21,440 (2017: € 42,000). Othet
fees payable to the patent company’s auditors for non-audit services, namely tax setvices, amounted to

€ 8,380 (2017: € 7,600).

Holding company

Total remuneration payable to the parent company’s auditors for the audit of the company’s financial
statements amounted to € 6,000 (2017: € 5,750). Other fees payable to the parent company’s auditors for
non-audit services other than other assurance services and tax advisory services amounted to € Nil

(2017: € Nil).
12 Key management personnel compensation
The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
€ € € €
Directors’ compensations
Short term benefits:
Fees 24,000 24,000 24,000 24,000
Management remuneration 1,293,720 276,984 235,381 -
Value of services provided by an officer of the
group 38,441 160,303 - -
1,356,161 461,287 259,381 24,000
Directors’ compensations
Short term benefits:
Salaries and social security contributions 338,416 468,374 77,144 =
Total key management personnel
compensation
Short term benefits 1,694,577 929,661 336,525 24,000
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12,1 Share-based payments

On 24 October 2016 the group entered into a shate option agreement by virtue of which 2 maximum of 10%
of the issued shares in one of the group’s subsidiaties were granted as share options to one senior officer of
the group. The options under this scheme vested immediately.

Each option allows the holder to purchase one ordinaty share having a nominal value of € 1.00 per share at a
subscription price of € 1.36 per share. Options must be exercised within 8 years from the vesting date.

Share options for the repotting petiod presented are as follows:

Number of share options

No.
Granted in 2016 1,139,032
Shares transferred in 2016 and 2017 (29,410)
Outstanding at 31 December 2017 1,109,622
Outstanding at 1 Jnaury 2018 1,109,622
Shares transferred in 2018 (14,705)
Outstanding at 31 December 2018 1,094,917

The fair value of the options granted was determined by reference to the fair value of the equity instruments
granted at grant date using a variation of the binomial option pricing model that takes into account factors
specific to the shate option. The following principal assumptions were used in the valuation:

Options vested in 2016

Grant date 24 October 2016
Volatility 0.42
Option life 8 years
Dividend yield 10.83%
Risk-free investment rate 1.4%
Fair value of the option at 31 December 2018 €0.141
Exercise price at grant date (€) €1.36
Exercisable from / to 24 October 2016 / 23 October 2024

The option holder is also entitled to receive 14,705 ordinary shares of € 1 each per annum, starting from the
yeat ended 31 December 2016, for no considetation, fot as long as he continues to provide services to the
group’s subsidiary. These shares are to be deducted from the share option entitlement.

The effect of the share-based payment transaction on the statement of profit or loss and othet
comprehensive income and statements of financial position for the repotting periods presented are as
follows:

Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income

The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
€ € € €

Administrative costs 38,441 160,303 - =
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Statements of financial position

52

The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
€ € € €
Non-current assets
Investment in subsidiary - - (14,705) (29,410)
Receivable from subsidiary - = 38,441 160,303
Equity
Non-controlling interest (14,705) (29,410) B -
Other reserves (23,736) (130,893) (23,7386) (130,893)
13 Employee remuneration

Expenses recognised for staff costs are analysed below:

The group The group The company The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Wages and salaries 11,125,688 7,542,909 250,680 24,000
Social security costs 1,254,858 1,137,744 8,340 -
Maternity fund contributions 6,924 8,064 361 -
12,387,470 8,688,717 259,381 24,000

Recharges from related parties - 289,437 - 10,500
Capitalised wages (96,273) - - -
Recharges to related parties - (52,351) - ®
12,291,197 8,925,803 259,381 34,500

The average number of persons employed during the year by the group excluding executive directors, was

made up of:
The group The group
2018 2017
€ €
Operations 423 368
Administration 122 103
545 471
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14 Tax expense

The major components of tax expense and the reconciliation of the expected tax income (expense) based on
the effective tax rate of the group and the company at 35% (2017: 35%) and the reported tax expense in the
income statement ate as follows:

The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)
€ € € €

Profit (loss) before tax (1,064,740) (66,166) 2,294,744 3,064,032
Tax rate 35% 35% 35% 35%
Expected tax at the applicable rate (372,659) (23,158) 803,161 1,072,411
Tax effect of:
Different tax rates of subsidiaries operating in
other jurisdictions (138,575) (233,158) (596,032) (706,882)
(Over) / Under provision of tax in prior year 114,980 - 114,980
Deferred tax not recognised 380,915 165,061 350 -
Adjustment for adoption of IFRS 15 (21,654) - - -
Income not chargeable to tax - (562,385) - -
Deferred tax asset movement - 20,708 - E
Loss on discontinued operations - (1,746) - -
Disallowable expenses 159,852 708,322 (826) (300,920)
Permanent differences 29,755 24,687 - -
Actual tax expense, net 152,614 608,331 321,633 64,609
Comprising:
Current tax expense 295,861 533,691 206,653 64,609
Deferred tax expense / (income) (258,227) 76,254 - -
Over / (under) provision of tax in prior year 114,980 (1,614) 114,980 -

152,614 608,331 321,633 64,609

Refer to note 35 for information on the deferred tax movements of the group and the company.

15 Dividends
A dividend of € 5,800,000 was proposed and paid for 2018 (2017: No dividend was recommended).
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16 Goodwiill

The movements in the carrying amount of goodwill are as follows:

At 1 January 2017

Amounts recognised from acquisition of subsidiaries in 2017

Goodwill written off in subsidiaries

Effect of exchange differences on retranslation of goodwill on foreign subsidiaries
At 31 December 2017

At 1 January 2018
Effect of exchange differences on retranslation of goodwill on foreign subsidiaries
At 31 December 2018

Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017
At 31 December 2018

Note

38

54

The group
€

28,606,957
25,674,835
(31,726)
1,751,265

56,001,331

56,001,331
(1,715,450)

54,285,881

56,001,331
54,285,881

Amounts recognised as goodwill priot to acquisitions of subsidiaries made up to 2013 were based on
predecessor accounting principles while the goodwill recognised in 2014, 2016 and 2017 was based on the

acquisition accounting principles.

17 Intangible assets - The group

Gross carrying amount

At 1 January 2017

Additions

Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary
Disposals

Impairment provision

Effect of foreign exchange differences
At 31 December 2017

At 1 January 2018

Additions

Disposals

Effect of foreign exchange differences
At 31 December 2018

Note

38

The group
€

11,931,571
553,501
5,844
(518)
(86,556)
746,142

13,149,984

13,149,984
473,869
(140,059)
(745,730)

12,738,064
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The group
Note €
Amortisation
At 1 January 2017 397,560
Provision for the year 66,454
Recognised on acquisition of subsidiary 38 4,966
Released on disposal 617)
Effect of foreign exchange differences (42,861)
At 31 December 2017 425,602
At 1 January 2018 425,602
Provision for the year 349,458
Released on disposal (110,760)
Effect of foreign exchange differences (25,950)
At 31 December 2018 638,350
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2017 12,724,382
At 31 December 2018 12,099,714

The amortisation charge was included in administrative expenses.

Intangible assets include separately identified intangible assets acquited duting 2014 as patt of the business
combinations amounting to € 12,000,000 which have been recognised separately from goodwill. In 2018,
intangible assets were adjusted downwards by € 771,680 following a detetioration of the Polish Zloty from the
date of acquisition to the balance sheet date. In 2017, intangible assets wete adjusted upwards by € 703,281
following an improvement of the Polish Zloty from ptiot yeat.

These intangible assets relate to:

SAD’s Apple Premium Reseller operations operating under the brand iSpot together with related
contracts — € 10,740,689 (2017: € 11,486,731). The useful life of this asset is considered to be
indefinite as there was no foreseeable limit to the petiod over which the asset is expected to generate
net cash inflows. In arriving at this conclusion management considered such factors as the stability
of the industry and changes in the demand for such products. This assessment is reassessed
periodically.

APCO’s payment gateway system — € 1,000,000. The useful life of this asset was considetred to be
finite due to possible technological obsolescence and is being amortised on a straight line basis.
Until 31 December 2014, the group was amortising the intangible asset over 3 yeats. Following the
knowledge generated, the group re-assessed the remaining useful life of the asset to be 10 years.
Had the group not-reassessed the remaining useful life, the additional amortisation for the yeats
2015, 2016 and 2017 would have amounted to € 233,000 annually mote. This asset would have been
fully amortised by 31 December 2017 had the group not re-assessed the remaining useful life. As
from 2018, the yearly amortisation on this asset amounts to € 89,855. The amottisation charge fot
the year is included within administrative expenses.
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Plant and equipment - The company

The following are the plant and equipment of the company:
The company

€
Gross carrying amount
Additions 4,000
At 31 December 2018 4,000
Amortisation
Provision for the year 1,000
At 31 December 2018 1,000
Carrying amount
At 31 December 2018 3,000
The depreciation charge was included in administrative expenses.
19 Investment in subsidiaries
19.1 The company
2018 2017
(restated)
€ €
At 1 January 64,923,823 39,378,233
Acquired upon merger 1,190 -
Acquisitions - 25,575,000
Disposals (14,705) (29,410)
At 31 December 64,910,308 64,923,823

The company acquired an investment in a subsidiary upon the merger with iSpot Holdings BV on 5
September 2018. On 18 December 2017 the company acquired Hili Logistics Limited from Hili Ventures
Limited, at a consideration price of € 25,575,000.

Disposals made during 2018 and 2017 comprise entitely of shares the company held in Harvest Technology
Limited as disclosed in note 12.

19.2 The group

1923 Investments p.l.c. has investments in the following subsidiaties:

Place of Proportion ownership Portion voting power Principal

Name of subsidiary incorporation interest Holding held activity
2018 2017 2018 2017
% % % %

Harvest Technology Holding
Limited Malta 100 100 Direct 100 100 company
iSpot Poland SP. Z 0.0 Direct
(formerly PTL Poland (2017: Sale of retail and
SP.Z 0.0) Poland 100 100 Indirect) 100 100 IT solutions
iSpot Holdings B.V. Holding

(merged with Company)  Netherlands - 100 Direct 100 100 company
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Name of subsidiary

Hili Logistics Limited

PTL Limited

APCO Limited

APCO Systems Limited

SAD SP.Z 0.0

iSpot Premium Romania

Ipsyon Ltd
Eunoia Ltd

Stride Technology Ltd
(merged within PTL Ltd)

Carmelo Caruana
Company Limited

Carmelo Caruana
Freeport Operations
Limited

Airsped Express Limited
(merged with Carmelo
Caruana Company Ltd)

Global Parcels Limited
Hili Company BV
(merged with Hili
Logistics)

STS Support Services
BVI

Allcom Sp. z.0.0.

Poang Limited

Place of
incorporation

Malta

Malta

Malta

Malta

Poland

Romania

Malta

Malta

Malta

Malta

Malta

Malta

Malta

Netherlands

British Virgin
Islands

Poland

Malta

2018

%

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

Proportion ownership

2017

%

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

100

50

Holding

Direct

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Direct
(2017:
Indirect)

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Indirect

Portion of voting

power held
2018 2017
% %
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
100 100
- 100
100 100
100 100
- 100
100 100
- 100
100 100
100 100
100 50

58

Principal
activity

Holding
company

Sale of IT
solutions and
security systems

Sale of IT
solutions and
security systems

Sale of IT
solutions and
security systems

Sale of retail and
IT solutions

Sale of retail and
IT solutions

Holding of
intellectual
property

Sale of software

Sale of software

Shipping agent
and freight
forwarder

Transhipment
and storekeeping

Parcel delivery
service

Parcel delivery
service

Holding
company

Ship to ship
services

Shipping and
freight
forwarding

Software
development
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Information about direct subsidiaties of the company is as follows:

Name of company

Harvest Technology Limited

iSpot Poland SP. Z 0.0

iSpot Holdings BV (merged
with the company)
SAD Spa z.0.0

iSpot Premium Romania

Hili Logistics Limited

Registered office

Nineteen Twenty Three,
Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS
3000 Malta

UL. Pulawska 2, 02-566
Warsaw, Poland

Strawinskylaan 3127,8"
Floor, 1077 ZX Amsterdam,
The Netherlands

UL. Pulawska 2, 02-566
Warsaw, Poland

1st District, 246 B Floreasca
street, Shopping Centre
Promenada, first floor Unit no.
1F-055, Bucharest, Romania

Nineteen Twenty Three,
Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS
3000 Malta

Capital and reserves at 31

59

Profit/(loss) for the year

December ended 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017
€ € € €

11,439,579 11,339,723 849,856 390,694
(12,482,696) 27,677,896 530,024 5,649,632
- 32,152,729 - 3,519,662
195,347 1,220,290 74,384 1,146,615
(254,172) 78,740 (317,624) (471,603)
Not Not
26,255,918 applicable (135,072) applicable

The company also has indirect investments in subsidiaries as follows:

Name of company

PTL Limited

APCO Limited

APCO Systems Limited
Eunoia Limited

Poang Limited

Ipsyon Ltd

Carmelo Caruana Company
Limited

Carmelo Caruana Freeport
Operations Limited

Global Parcels Limited
STS Support Services BVI

Allcom Sp. z 0.0.

Registered office

Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000 Malta
Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000 Malta
Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000 Malta

Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000 Malta
Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000 Malta
Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000 Malta

Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000 Malta

Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000 Malta

Nineteen Twenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000 Malta

Patton, Moreno & Asvat (BVI) Limited, Palm Chambers, 197 Main Street, P.O. Box

3174, Road Town Tortola, British Virgin Islands
ul. Mariacka 9, 81-383 Gdynia, Poland
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20 Investments accounted for using the equity method

The group’s investments accounted for using the equity method comprise:

The group The group
2018 2017
€ €
Investment in associates 107,950 133,357
Investment in joint venture 800,439 1,036,122
Total 908,389 1,169,479
20.1 Investment in associates
The group’s investment in associate undertakings is analysed below:
The group The group
2018 2017
€ €
At 1 January 133,357 383,487
Share of profits and losses 121,593 E
Dividends from associate (147,000) -
Recognised upon acquisition of subsidiaries - 133,357
Disposals - (383,487)
At 31 December 107,950 133,357

The group has investment in associates through Hili Logistics Limited as follows:

Proportion of ownership Capital and reserves at 31 Profit/(loss) for the year

Name of company interest December ended 31 December
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018 2017
% % € € € €
CMA CGM Agency Malta Ltd 49 49 220,308 256,352 263,956 178,188
Peterson Malta Limited 50 50 (183,942) (7,151) (176,791) (9,824)

The net accumulated interest in the net assets of CMA CGM Agency Malta Limited and Peterson Malta
Limited amount to € 107,950 and € Nil respectively, totaling € 107,950 as at 31 December 2018 (2017:
€ 125,612 and € 7,745 respectively, totaling € 133,357).

The registered office of the above associates is Nineteen Twenty-Thtee, Valletta Road, Marsa, Malta.

Duting 2017, the investment in Smart Technology Limited that was indirectly owned by Harvest Technology
Limited was disposed of. The loss on sale of Smart Technology Limited amounted to € 253,438,
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20.2 Investment in joint ventures
The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)
€ € € €
At 1 January 1,036,122 17,813 682,375 682,375
Acquisitions - 996,069 4 4
Share of profits and losses 69,714 22,240 # -
Transfer to investment in subsidiaries (305,397) - = -
At 31 December 800,439 1,036,122 682,375 682,375

The group has investment in joint ventures through Harvest Technology Limited as follows:

Proportion of ownership Capital and reserves at 31

Name of company interest December
2018 2017 2018 2017 2018
% % € € €
Hili Salomone Limited
50 50 (3,200) (3,200) -
Poang Limited - 50 - 211,991 -
iCentre Hungary Kft 50 50 745,087 605,659 139,428

Profit/(loss) for the year
ended 31 December

2017
€

(189,209)

233,688

The registered office of Hili Salomone Limited and Poang Limited is Nineteen Twenty-Three, Valletta Road,

Marsa, Malta.

On 23 March 2017, Harvest Technology Limited acquired 50% of the share capital of Poang Limited, a

company focusing on software application development.

During 2018, Hatvest Technology Limited acquired the remaining 50% of the share capital of Poang
Limited. As a result, the latter became a fully owned subsidiaty of Harvest Technology Limited and the
cotresponding investment was transaferred to investment in subsidiaries.

On 28 December 2017, Alfa Capital BV was liquidated. This company was 100% owned by Hili Salomone
Company Limited. The registered office of Alfa Capital B.V. was Schiphol Boulevard 231, 1118 BH,

Amsterdam Schiphol, Netherlands.

The investment in joint venture of the company represents the investment in iCentre Hungary Kft resulting
from the merger as disclosed in note 3. The company holds 50% directly in iCentre Hungary Kft. The
registered office of iCentre Hungary Kft is Bécsi ut 77-79, 1036 Budapest, Hungary.

Summatised financial information in respect of joint ventures is set out below:

Carrying asset amount
Group’s share of total profit / total comprehensive income

Group's share of total expense / total comprehensive loss

The group The group
2018 2017

€ €

800,439 1,036,122
69,714 116,844
- (94,604)
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Included in the investment in joint ventures, is an investment of € 800,439 (2017: € 730,725) pertaining to the
investment in iCentre Hungary Kft. A summary of the financial information of this joint venture is set out
below:

The group The group

2018 2017

€ €

Current assets 2,751,041 2,276,930
Non-current assets 635,764 805,810
Current liabilities (2,641,718) (2,477,081)
Net assets 745,087 605,659
Revenue 12,316,075 12,188,844
Expenses (12,117,234) (11,944,038)
Profit for the year (net of tax) 139,428 233,688
Group’s share of total profit / total comprehensive income 69,714 116,844

The group’s share of total expense / total comprehensive loss At 31 December 2018 amounted to € nil. At
31 December 2017, the group’s share of total expense / total comptehensive loss amounted to € 94,604
atising entirely from the results of Poang Limited.

21 Other investment

The group The group

2018 2017

€ €

As at 1 January 50,000 -
Addition - 50,000
As at 31 December 50,000 50,000

During 2017, an indirect investment of € 50,000 has been made in Thought3D Ltd through Harvest
Technology Limited, corresponding to 4% of this investment’s share capital.
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22 Loans and receivables

Loans receivable from ultimate parent
Loans receivable from subsidiaries

Loans receivable from other related parties
Loan receivable from associate

Other receivables

Comprising:

Non-current

Loans receivable from ultimate parent
Loans receivable from subsidiaries

Loans receivable from other related parties
Other receivables

Current

Loans receivable from ultimate parent
Loans receivable from subsidiaries

Loans receivable from other related parties
Loan receivable from associate

23 Inventories

Raw materials and consumables
Finished goods and goods held for resale

63

The group The group The company  The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)

€ € € €
7,729,047 6,956,490 - -
- - 38,391,285 13,650,478

226,327 181,998 110,134 266,265
73,500 - - B
1,633,882 70,000 - -
9,562,756 7,208,488 38,501,419 13,916,743
6,809,189 6,306,110 - -
- - 34,791,285 5,261,414

180,133 100,000 110,134 266,232
1,633,882 70,000 - -
8,523,204 6,476,110 34,901,419 5,527,646
919,858 650,380 - -

- - 3,600,000 8,389,026

46,194 81,998 - 71
73,500 - - -
1,039,552 732,378 3,600,000 8,389,097
The group The group  The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

- 1,782 - -
15,840,850 12,407,437 - -
15,840,850 12,409,219 - -

The amount of inventories recognised as an expense duting the year amounted to € 82,473,266

(2017: € 71,822,675).

Write-downs of inventories recognised in the statement of profit ot loss and other comprehensive income
during the year amounted to € 21,805 (2017: € 77,990) and are included with cost of sales.
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24 Other assets
The group The group The company The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Assets recognised from costs to fulfil contracts 197,698 - - -
Prepayments 1,414,742 1,033,884 53,189 -
1,612,440 1,033,884 53,189 -

The group has recognised assets in relation to costs incurred in its rendering of services and maintenance and
support that is used to fulfil these contracts. The asset is amortised over the term of the specific contract it
relates to, consistent with the pattern of recognition of the associated revenue. Management expects the costs
to be completely recoveted in the next 12 months.

25 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables consist of the following:

The group The group The company  The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Trade receivables — gross 8,600,934 7,920,841 - -
Provision for impairment (882,131) (648,626) - -
Trade receivables — net 7,718,803 7,272,215 - -
Amount owed by ultimate parent 1,108,216 2,011,817 16,960 37,540
Amounts owed by associates 412,955 396,753 - -
Amounts owed by related parties 1,756,108 1,481,772 150,399 256,892
Other receivables 81,822 2,074,419 19,148 7,057
Accrued income 121,464 1,276,673 - -
Financial assets 11,199,368 14,513,649 186,507 301,489
Other receivables 1,428,191 122,271 223,303 -
Trade and other receivables — current 12,627,559 14,635,920 409,810 301,489

The carrying value of financial assets is considered a teasonable approximation of fair value.

No interest is charged on trade and other receivables.

Trade and other receivables ate stated net of an allowance for estimated irrecoverable amounts from trade
receivables amounting to € 882,131 (2017: € 648,626). Movements in provisions for bad and doubtful
teceivables are included with administrative expenses amounting to € 233,505 (2017: € (8,331)).

Amounts owed by ultimate parent, associates and other related parties are unsecured, interest free and
repayable on demand.

Note 42.2 includes disclosures relating to the credit risk exposures and analysis relating to the allowance for
expected credit losses. The above comparative for impairment provisions refers to the TAS 39 measurement
basis which applied an incurred loss model, wheteas the current year applies IFRS 9 which is an expected
loss model.
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26 Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include the following component:

The group The group  The company The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

(restated)

€ € € €

Cash and bank balances 3,604,370 3,231,078 1,366,403 200,472
Cash and cash equivalents in the

statements of financial position 3,604,370 3,231,078 1,366,403 200,472

Bank overdrafts (3,334,561) (1,122,195) - -
Cash and cash equivalents in the

statements of cash flows 269,809 2,108,883 1,366,403 200,472

"The group and the company did not have any restrictions on its cash at bank as at the end of the reporting
petiod. Any interest earned on cash at bank is based on market rates.

27 Share capital

The shate capital of 1923 Tnvestments p.l.c. consists only of ordinary shares with a pat value of € 1. All shares
are equally eligible to receive dividends and repayment of capital and represent one vote at the shareholders’
meeting of the company.

2018 2017
€ €
Shares issued and fully paid at 31 December
49,575,000 (2017: 35,575,000) ordinary shares of € 1 each 49,575,000 35,575,000
Shares authorised at 31 December
70,000,000 (2017: 36,000,000) ordinary shares of € 1 each 70,000,000 36,000,000

Duting April 2017, the company increased its issued and called up share capital from € 8,399,724 to
€ 10,000,000, through the capitalisation of shareholder loans amounting to € 1,600,276 and the issuance of
1,600,276 otdinary shares with a nominal value of € 1 per share.

During December 2017, the Company resolved, through an extraordinaty resolution dated 7 December 2017,
to increase the authotised shate capital from 10,000,000 ordinary shares of € 1 each to 36,000,000 ordinaty
shares of € 1 each.

Subsequently during December 2017, the company acquired Hili Logistics Limited from Hili Ventures
Limited, at a consideration ptice of € 25,575,000. The consideration was settled in full through the
capitalisation of a shareholder loan amounting to € 25,575,000 and the issuance and allotment of 25,575,000
otrdinary shares with a nominal value of € 1 per share to Hili Ventures Limited.

During August 2018, it was agteed to increase the authorised share capital of the company from 36,000,000
otdinary shates of € 1 each to 70,000,000 ordinary shares of one euro € 1 each. It was also agreed to increase
the issued share capital of the company from 35,575,000 otdinaty shares of € 1 each to 49,575,000 ordinary
shares of € 1 each. The issue of the shate capital of 14,000,000 ordinary shares of € 1 each was allotted in
favour of Hili Ventures Limited, having Company Registration Number C57902, of Nineteen Twenty Three,
Valletta Road, Matrsa, MRS 3000, Malta, for a cash consideration of the same amount.
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28 Other equity

The group The group The company The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Other equity 4,741,736 4,765,472 154,629 130,893

On 30 December 2013, the company, through its direct subsidiary, Farvest Technology Limited, acquired
100% interest in PTL Limited, 50% intetest in Hili Salomone Company Limited and 33% interest in Smart
Technologies Limited from a related party, Hili Company Limited. Both Hili Company Iimited and 1923
Investments p.l.c. have the same parent company, Hili Ventures Limited.

The acquisition of the subsidiary, PTL Limited, and its undetlying subsidiaries by the company falls outside
the scope of International Financial Reporting Standard 3 — Business Combinations (“IFRS 3”) because the
transaction merely represents a group reotganisation and because in terms of paragraph 2(c) of IFRS 3, the
acquisition of these entities by the company is 2 combination of businesses under common control in which
all the combining entities are ultimately controlled by the same party, Hili Ventures Limited, both before and
after the business combination and that conttol is not transitory.

The difference of € 1,367,314 between consideration for the acquired entities of € 3,551,791 and the amounts
at which the assets and liabilities of the acquired entities were recognised of € 2,184,477 are included in equity
in terms of predecessor accounting.

On 22 December 2016, Hatvest Technology Limited Limited eliminated € 1,754,051 of its accumulated
losses through a reduction of its shate premium account of the same amount. At consolidated level, this is

included in equity.

During 2017, the interest in Smart Technologies Limited was disposed of by the group and an amount of
€ 300,000 previously recognized in othet equity was eliminated.

On 2 December 2017, Hili Logistics Limited eliminated € 2,075,000 of its accumulated losses through a
reduction of its share premium account of the same amount. At consolidation level, this is included in equity.

During 2018, the group and the company recognised an amount of € 23,736 with other equity representing
the value of services provided by an officer of the group (2017: € 130,893).

29 Exchange reserve

The group’s foreign operations expose the group to exchange movements in other comprehensive income.
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30 Debt securities in issue
The group The group  The company The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

5.1% unsecured bonds redeemable 2024 35,515,657 35,434,649 35,615,557 35,434,649
35,515,557 35,434,649 35,515,557 35,434,649

In December 2014, the company issued 360,000 5.1% unsecured bonds of 2 nominal value of € 100 per
bond. The bonds are redeemable at their nominal value on 4 December 2024,

Intetest on the bonds is due and payable annually on 4 December of each year.
The bonds are listed on the Official List of the Malta Stock Exchange. The carrying amount of the bonds is
net of direct issue costs of € 484,443 (2017: € 565,351) which are being amottised over the life of the bonds.

The market value of debt securities on the last trading day befote the statement of financial position date was
€ 37,440,000 (2017: € 37,267,200).

31 Borrowings

The group The group The company  The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

Bank overdrafts 3,334,561 1,122,195 - x
Bank loans 300,000 10,642,763 - -

3,634,561 11,764,958 - -

Comprising:

Non-current liabilities

Bank loans 100,000 5,755,339 - -

100,000 5,755,339 - -

Current liabilities

Bank overdrafts 3,334,561 1,122,195 - -

Bank ioans 200,000 4,887,424 - -
3,534,561 6,009,619 - -

As at 31 December 2017, Allcom Sp, z 0.0., a subsidiary owned by Hili Logistics Limited, was in breach of
bank covenants in respect of the loan for the total amount of € 2,797,158. The bteach occurted because of
cotporate testructuring and not because of performance or failure in honouring debt service commitments.
Therefore, this loan was classified as payable on demand at 31 December 2017. However, subsequent to the
teporting period ending 31 December 2017, Allcom Sp, z 0.0. received waiver letter from the bank
confirming that the bank will not demand the eatly repayment of this loan.

During 2018, 1923 Investments p.l.c. advanced a total of € 9,600,000 to subsidiaries within the group to settle
all outstanding loans with banking institutions. Duting 2018, the group entered into a new loan amounting to
€ 300,000 to finance operations within the Harvest Technology division.
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Bank overdrafts and loans are repayable as follows:

The group The group The company  The company

2018 2017 2018 2017

€ € € €

On demand or within one year 3,534,561 6,009,619 - -
In the second year 100,000 1,628,123 - -
In the third year - 3,853,835 - -
In the fourth year - 135,503 - -
In the fifth year - 137,878 - -
3,634,561 11,764,958 - -

The group’s bank loans and overdraft facilities beat effective interest at a floating rate of 5.39% (2017:
5.57%) p.a. The bank overdrafts are secured by first general hypothecs over the assets of the PTL Limited,
Carmelo Caruana Company Limited and iSpot Poland SP Z o.0. The bank loan at 31 December 2018 is
secured by a general hypothec for € 300,000 over the assets of Ipsyon Limited and an assignment of royalties
receivable.

In 2017, bank loans comprised of a bank loan taken by iSpot Poland SP. Z O.O. for the acquisition of the
investment in SAD SP. Z O.O. This loan had an effective interest rate of 3 month WIBOR plus 3.5%
margin. The facility was secuted by a pledge and financial pledge on the shares of SAD SP. Z O.0. 'This
Registered pledge on shares was established for maximum security of € 18,000,000. This pledge is due to
released in 2019 as all bank loans have been settled by 31 December 2018. In addition, the group has a
registered pledge on assets and rights belonging to SAD SP. z O.0. amounting to PLN78,750,000 (2017:
PLN52,500,000).

32 Trade and other payables

The group The group The company  The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)
€ € € €
Trade payables 18,056,704 16,587,422 136,804 57,998
Amounts payable to ultimate parent - 85,727 - -
Amounts payable to related parties 54,158 - 208,304 -
Other payables 1,439,337 1,234,182 181,891 38,422
Accrued expenses 2,202,913 4,669,601 190,202 539,533
Financial liabilities 21,753,112 22,576,932 717,201 635,953
Other creditors 3,446,515 3,201,763 - -
Deferred income 2,283,840 1,434,592 - -
Trade and other payables 27,483,467 27,213,287 717,201 635,953
Comprising:
Long term payables
Trade and other payables 831,208 1,076,391 - -
831,208 1,076,391 - -
Current payables
Trade and other payables 26,652,259 26,136,896 717,201 635,953
26,652,259 26,136,896 717,201 635,953

The carrying values of financial liabilities are considered to be a reasonable approximation of fair value.

No interest is charged on trade and other payables.
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33 Contract liabilities

Deterred setvice income on rendering of services and development

Deferred service income on maintenance, support and servicing

Defetred service income on other gateway income and access fees

Deferred service income on licences

The group
2018
€

85,161
1,369,088
114,070
23,462

69

The group
2017
€

1,591,781

Defetred setvice income represent customer payments received or due in advance of performance (contract
liabilities) that are expected to be recognised as revenue in 2019. As described in note 5.11, maintenance,
servicing and support contracts are entered into for periods between 1 and 3 yeats. On the other hand,
consultancy and development of IT systems ate usually completed within 12 months. Nevertheless, the
company may occasionally have projects for consultancy and development of IT systems that span over more
than 12 months. Contracts for the latter revenue soutce are however expected to be completed within 2019.

The group also entets into transactions with parties for the access to a payment gateway. The group’s revenue
is mainly detived from the actual volume of traffic on the payment gateway and on other fixed charges. Such
services are rendered and recognised in the same month when the income arises. Any deferred setvice

income occurring in one month is immediately recognised as revenue in the following month.

Deferred service income on licences is expected to be recognised as revenue in 2019.

The amounts recognised as a contract liability will generally be utilised within the next reporting petiod.

With the exception of an amount of € 445,234 in deferred setvice income on maintenance and support still
not yet recognised as revenue at 31 December 2018 and included with the balance of deferred income at 31
December 2017, the remaining deferred service income at the end of the previous reporting period was

recognised as revenue during the current year.

34 Other financial liabilities

The group The group The company  The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)
€ € € €
Amounts owed to parent 6,146,577 2,203,157 3,800,000 33,897
Amounts owed to joint venture 159,389 361,468 155,717 =
Amounts owed to related parties 343,765 221,226 - 151,812
Amounts owed to subsidiaries B E 16,312,583 4,394,120
Amounts owed to associates - 12,790 - E
Amounts owed to a shareholder - 2,581 - -
Amounts owed to a third party 6,000,000 6,000,000 - -
12,649,731 8,801,222 20,268,300 4,579,829
Comprising:
Long term liabilities
Other financial liabilities 12,299,722 8,395,800 19,176,666 3,955,537
12,299,722 8,395,800 19,176,666 3,955,537
Current liabilities
Other financial liabilities 350,009 405,422 1,091,634 624,292
350,009 405,422 1,091,634 624,292

"The terms and conditions of amounts owed to the parent and other related parties are disclosed in note 39.
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35 Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax arising from temporary differences are summarised as follows:

Recognised in

70

The group 1 Jan 2018 profitand loss 31 Dec 2018
€ € €
Deferred tax assets arising on:
Property, plant and equipment 332,722 (43,490) 289,232
Unabsorbed capital allowances 22,686 42,882 65,568
Unabsorbed tax losses - 308,457 308,457
Provisions 389,658 186,937 576,595
Other temporary differences 355,844 (49,822) 306,022
Total 1,100,910 444,964 1,545,874
Deferred tax liabilities arising on:
Intangible assets (291,452) 18,380 (273,072)
Property, plant and equipment (558,230} 187,633 (370,597)
Other temporary differences (159,385) (392,750) (652,135)
Total (1,009,067) (186,737) {1,195,804)
Defetted taxes for the comparative petiod 2017 can be summarised as follows:
Recognised in
The group 1 Jan 2017 profit and loss 31 Dec 2017
€ € €
Deferred tax assets arising on:
Property, plant and equipment 1,607 331,115 332,722
Unabsorbed capital allowances 21,995 691 22,686
Unabsorbed tax losses 99,004 (99,004) -
Provisions 284,683 104,975 389,658
Other temporary differences 422,119 (55,462) 366,657
Total 829,408 282,315 1,111,723
Recognised on acquisition (note 38) - - (10,813)
829,408 282,315 1,100,910
Deferred tax liabilities arising on:
Intangible assets (309,072) 17,620 (291,452)
Property, plant and equipment - (558,230) (558,230)
Other temporary differences (341,426) 182,041 (159,385)
Total (650,498) (358,569) {1,009,067)

See note 14 for information on the company's tax expense.

The group

The aggregate amount of temporary differences associated with investments in subsidiaties for which
defetred tax liabilities have not been tecognised, amounts to € Nil (2017: € 8,459,147).
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36 Cash flow adjustments and changes in working capital
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The following non-cash flow adjustments and adjustments for changes in working capital have been made
to profit before tax to attive at operating cash flow:

Adjustments:

Depreciation and amortisation
Exchange differences

Bad debts written off

Goodwill written off

Negative goodwill written off

Impairment losses on intangible assets
Bond amortisation costs

Movement in provision for doubtful debts
Other interest income

Related party interest income

Share of profit of associated undertakings
Loss on disposal of associate

Loss on disposal of intangibles and PPE
Share of profits in joint ventures
Provision for losses on joint ventures
Value of services provided by an officer of
the group

Stock written off provisions

Interest payable

Dividends receivable

Interest income

Working capital:

Change in inventories

Change in trade and other receivables
Change in trade and other payables

The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)

€ € € €
2,462,663 1,794,763 1,000 -
166,031 (117,840) - -
34,414 160,194 - -

- 31,726 - -

- (218,957) - -

- 86,556 - -

80,907 80,907 80,907 80,907
233,505 (8,331) - -
(17,718) (87,399) - -
(184,614) (95,514) . -
(121,593) - - -

B 253,438 B -

29,299 206,469 - -
(69,714) (22,240) - -

- 211,585 - B

38,441 160,303 - -
51,698 172,550 - -
2,659,258 2,620,461 2,401,590 2,061,192
- - (4,200,401) (4,966,006)
- - (782,805) (260,344)
5,362,577 5,228,671 (2,499,709) (3,084,251)
(3,483,329) (3,333,634) - -
(1,338,922) (13,468) (162,699) 695,063
1,906,722 1,348,117 80,461 168,801
(2,915,529} (1,998,985) (82,238) 853,864
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37 Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities
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The table below details changes in the company’s liabilities arising from financing activities, including both
cash and non-cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are those for which cash flows were,
or future cash flows will be, classified in the Statement of Cash Flows as cash from financing activities.

Balance at 31 Other non- Balance at 31

December cash December

Notes 2017  Cash flows changes 2018

€ € € €

Bank loans 31 10,642,763  (10,342,763) - 300,000
Amounts owed to a third party 34 6,000,000 - - 6,000,000
16,642,763  (10,342,763) - 6,300,000

The table below details changes in the company’s liabilities arising from financing activities for the preceding

accounting petiod:

Balance at 31 Other non- Balance at 31

December cash December

Notes 2016 Cash flows changes 2017

€ € € €

Bank loans 31 7,644,722 (1,336,036) 4,334,077 10,642,763
Amounts owed to a third party 34 = 6,000,000 - 6,000,000
7,644,722 4,663,964 4,334,077 16,642,763

The significant non-cash movements on bank loans in 2017 of € 4,334,077 include an amount of
€3,977,115 in loans acquired through a business combination as disclosed in note 38.



1923 Investments p.l.c. 73
Report and consolidated financial statements
For the year ended 31 December 2018

38 Business combinations

On 18 December 2017, the group acquired 99.99% interest in Hili Logistics Limited, a company registered in
Malta, which principal activity is operating in logistics. The 2017 consolidated financial statements do not
include the results of the subsidiary from the date of acquisition.

No acquisition costs were incutred in this acquisition.

The fair value of identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of acquisition of Hili Logistics
Limited was:

€
Goodwill 25,674,835
Cash and cash equivalents 1,200,069
Bank overdrafts (453,034)
Bank loans (3,977,115)
Inventories 1,966
Other financial liabilities (281,855)
Loans and receivables 761,319
Property, plant and equipment 2,458,099
Intangible assets 878
Trade and other receivables 5,513,334
Other non-current assets 133,357
Trade and other payables (5,227,083)
Tax liabilities (10,813)
Fair value of assets and liabilities acquired 25,793,957
Goodwill arising on acquisition:
Fair value of identifiable assets and liabilities acquired 25,793,957
Consideration transferred 25,575,000
Negative goodwill written off to statement of profit or loss (218,957)

Had the acquisition of the subsidiary been effected on 1 January 2017, the revenue of the group would have
increased by € 22.7 million while loss before tax would have increased by € 1.1 million. The directors consider
these numbers to represent an approximate measure of the petformance of the combined group on an
annualised basis and to provide a reference point for comparison in future periods.
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39 Related party transactions

1923 Investments p.l.c. is the parent company of the subsidiary undertakings highlighted in note 19. The
parent company of 1923 Investments p.l.c. is Hili Ventures Limited which is incotporated in Malta. The
registered office of Hili Ventures Limited, being the undettaking which draws up the consolidated financial
statements of the smallest body of undertakings of which 1923 Investments p.l.c. forms patt as a subsidiary
undertaking, is Nineteen T'wenty Three, Valletta Road, Marsa, MRS 3000, Malta, from where the above
consolidated financial statements may be obtained.

Duting the year under review, the group entered into transactions with related parties as set out below:

2018 2017
Related Related
party Total party Total
The group activity Activity activity Activity
€ € % € € %
Revenue;
Related party transactions with:
Ultimate parent company 120,682
Other related parties 625,048 1,093,194
745730 122,022,751 1 1,003,194 97,535,475 1
Cost of sales:
Related party transactions with:
Ultimate parent company 55,848 =
Other related parties 51,468 26,527
107,316 109,380,754 x 26,527 89,280,698 -
Administrative expenses:
Related party transactions with:
Ultimate parent company 870,283 10,415
Other related parties 438,530 297,254
1,308,813 12,338,226 11 307,669 6,127,004 5
Investment income:
Related party transactions with:
Parent company 151,587 95,514
Other related parties 33,027 326,071
184,614 202,332 91 421,585 508,984 83
Finance cost:
Related party transactions with:
Parent company 89,759 45,129
89,759 2,740,165 3 45129 2,701,368 2

Other operating income:
Related party transactions with:
Ultimate parent company
Other related parties 874,320 :
874,320 978,014 89 - 10,686 E
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2018 2017 (restated)
Related Related
party Total party Total
The company activity Activity activity Activity
€ € % € € %
Revenue:
Related party transactions with:
Other related parties 1,080,000 420,000
1,080,000 1,080,000 100 420,000 420,000 100
Investment income:
Related party transactions with:
Subsidiaries 764,598 260,344
Other related parties 489 5
Subsidiaries (dividends) 4,200,401 4,966,006
4,965,488 4,983,206 99 5,226,350 5,226,350 100

Other related parties consist of related parties other than the parent, entities with joint control ot significant
influence over the company, subsidiaties, associates, joint ventures in which the company is a venture and
key management personnel of the company or its parent.

No expense has been recognised in the period for impairments in respect of amounts due by related parties
and there are no provisions for impairment in respect of outstanding amounts due by related parties.

The share of profit/loss on associate and joint ventutes is disclosed in note 20. Key management petsonnel
compensation is disclosed in note 12. Dividend income is disclosed in note 9.

The amounts due to/from other related parties at petiod-end are disclosed in notes 22, 25, 32 and 34. The
terms and conditions in respect of the related party balances do not specify the nature of the consideration to
be provided in settlement. No guarantees have been given or received.

The amounts owed to the group by other related parties as disclosed in note 22 are unsecured, bear interest
at 4.5% (2017: 4.5%). The amounts due in note 25 are unsecured, interest free and repayable on demand.

The group’s other financial liabilities disclosed in note 34 are unsecured, and € 2,343,660 (2017: € 2,798,641)
bear interest at 4.5% (2017: 4.5%) with the remaining balance being interest-free. Although these amounts
have no fixed date for repayment, they are expected to be settled within twelve months after the end of the
reporting period. Amounts disclosed for the company in year at 31 December 2018 and 2017, wete
unsecured, bear interest at 4.5% and are repayable by 31 December 2020.

As disclosed in notes 19 and 20, the company through its direct subsidiaties acquired a number of
subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures. Contingent liabilities and guarantees ate disclosed in note 31 and
41 respectively.

The directors consider the ultimate controlling party to be Carmelo Hili, who during 2016 became the
indirect owner of more than 50% of the issued share capital of Hili Ventures Limited.

The movement in share capital is disclosed in note 27.
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40 Operating leases

The group The group

2018 2017

€ €

Minimum lease payments recognised as an expense for the year 3,738,681 3,288,246
Contingent rent - 93,840
3,738,681 3,382,086

The group is part to several operating lease agreements for the lease of premises in vatious shopping malls
from which they operate a number of outlets selling Apple products in Poland. The group also leases certain
properties whereby it is committed to pay monthly payments to lessors based in the sale of each particular

shop.

At the end of the reporting period, the group had outstanding commitments undet non-cancellable operating
leases, which fall due as follows:

The group The group

2018 2017

€ €

Within one year 3,301,958 3,166,368
Between two and five years 8,525,591 6,872,572
More than five years 2,615,746 834,054

14,443,295 10,872,994

41 Contingent liabilities

At the end of the reporting petiod, one of the group’s subsidiaries under the Harvest Technology division
had issued guarantees amounting to € 600,000 (2017: € 700,000) in relation to bank facilities granted to
related undertakings. The same subsidiary also had guarantees amounting to € 504,000 (2017: € 1,267,700)
granted to third parties as collateral for liabilities.

One of the group’s subsidiaries under the Apple retail business division in Poland sighed an agteement with
HSBC Bank on line guarantees and letters of credit in the amount of € 18,307,993 (2017: € 13,666,115).

At the end of the reporting period, one of the group’s subsidiaties under the Hili Logistics division, together
with other related parties provided guarantees in relation to bank facilities granted to related undertakings. In
the directors’ opinion no provision is requited against such amounts as the principal botrowets ate either not
expected to default or such facilities are secuted by property, plant and equipment ot othet guarantots.

In 2016, a claim was made against one of the group’s subsidiaries by a third party for compensation due to
injuries incurred during the discharge of his duties. The estimated value of the claim amounted to € 112,549.
No provision is being made by the subsidiaty as the Directors are confident of a positive outcome. There
were no further developments on this claim in 2017 and 2018.

At 31 December 2018 the group had an overdraft facility through Allcom, one of its subsidiaties in Poland,
as disclosed in note 31 which was secured on the perpetual usuftuct of land and buildings in Bolszewo for a
total of PLN 2,680,000 (€ 623,053).

Allcom has also provided a guarantee for a total of € 1,394,895 (2017: € 1,428,857) to the customs office in
Poland, through a financial institution in the same countty, to secutre customs payments realised on behalf of
its clients. ‘The total utilisation of the guarantee as at the end of the repotting petiod was €Nil.
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At 31 December 2018, the company has a guarantee issued in favour of a subsidiary undertaking amounting
to € 1,857,000 for the performance of contracts by the subsidiary undertaking to third party customers.

42 Financial instrument risk
Risk management objectives and policies

The group is exposed to vatious risks in relation to financial instruments. The group’s financial assets and
liabilities by categoty ate summarised in note 42.4. The main types of risks are matket risk, credit risk and
liquidity risk.

The group's risk management is coordinated by the directors and focuses on actively securing the group's
short to medium term cash flows by minimising the exposure to financial risks.

The objectives, policies and processes for managing financial risks and the methods used to measure such
risks are subject to continual improvement and development. Whete applicable, any significant changes in the
group’s exposure to financial risks or the manner in which the group manages and measures these risks are
disclosed below.

Whete possible, the group aims to reduce and control risk concentrations. Concentration of financial risk
areas when financial instruments with similar characteristics are influenced in the same way by changes in
economic ot other factors. The amount of the tisk exposure associated with financial instruments sharing
similar characteristics is disclosed in mote detail in the notes to the financial statements.

The group does not actively engage in the trading of financial assets for speculative purposes nor does it write
options. The most significant financial risks to which the group is exposed ate described below.

42.1 Market risk analysis
Foreign currency risk

Foreign currency transactions arise when the group buys ot sells goods or services whose price is
denominated in a foreign currency, borrows ot lends funds when the amounts payable or receivable are
denominated in a foreign currency or acquires or disposes of assets, or incurs or settles liabilities,
denominated in a foreign currency. Foreign cutrency transactions comprise mainly transactions in PLN,
USD, GBP and RON.

The risk arising from foreign curtency transactions is managed by regular monitoring of the relevant
exchange rates and management’s reaction to material movements thereto.

Interest rate risk

The group and the company have debt securities in issue with a fixed coupon as disclosed in note 30, loans
and receivables with a fixed coupon as disclosed in note 22 and 39, and cash at bank with a floating coupon
as disclosed in note 26. The group has taken out interest bearing facilities as disclosed in notes 31 and 34. The
interest rates thereon and the terms of such borrowings ate disclosed accordingly. The group also has loans
and receivables and cash at bank with interest rates as disclosed in notes 22, 26 and 39.

The company and the group are exposed to cash flow interest rate risk on borrowings and debt instruments
carrying a floating interest.

Management monitors the movement in interest rates and, where possible, reacts to material movements in
such rates by adjusting its selling prices or by restructuring its financing structure.

The carrying amounts of the group’s and company’s financial instruments carrying a rate of interest at the
end of the reporting petiod are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.
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42.2 Credit risk analysis

Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty fails to discharge an obligation to the group. The group is exposed
to credit risk from financial assets including cash and cash equivalents held at banks, trade and other
teceivables. The group’s maximum exposure to credit risk is limited to the carrying amount of financial assets
recognised at the reporting date, as summarised below:

Notes The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)
€ € € €

Classes of financial assets -

carrying amounts:

Loans and receivables 22 9,662,756 7,208,488 38,501,419 13,916,743
Trade and other receivables 25 11,199,368 14,513,649 186,507 301,489
Cash and cash equivalents 26 3,604,370 3,231,078 1,366,403 200,472
24,366,494 24,953,215 40,054,329 14,418,704

Credit risk management

The credit risk is managed both at the level of each individual subsidiary as well as on a group basis, based
on the group’s credit risk management policies and procedures.

Loans and receivables and certain trade receivables comptise amounts due from related parties. The group
and company’s concentration to ctedit risk arising from these receivables are considered limited as there
were no indications that these counterparties are unable to meet their obligations. Management considers
these to be of good credit quality. Management does not consider loans and receivables to have deteriorated
in credit quality and the effect of management’s estimate of the 12-month credit loss has been determined
to be insignificant to the results of the group and the company.

The group and the company hold money exclusively with institutions having high quality external credit
ratings. The cash and cash equivalents held with such banks at 31 December 2018 and 2017 are callable on
demand. The banks with whom cash and cash equivalents are held form patt of an international group with
an A credit rating by Standard and Poor’s and similar high ratings by other agencies. The group also holds
cash with a local bank having a credit rating of BBB by Standard and Poor’s. Cash held by the group with
othet local banks for which no credit rating is available are not significant. Management considers the
probability of default from such banks to be close to zero and the amount calculated using the 12-month
expected credit loss model to be very insignificant. Therefore, based on the above, no loss allowance has
been recognised by the group and the company.

"The group assesses the credit quality of its customers by taking into account their financial standing, past
experience and other factors, such as bank references and the customers’ financial position.

Management is responsible for the quality of the group’s credit portfolios and has established credit
processes involving delegated approval authorities and credit procedures, the objective of which is to build
and maintain assets of high quality.

Individual risk limits are set in accordance with limits set by the board. The utilisation of credit limits is
tegulatly monitored. Each new individual customer is analysed individually for creditworthiness before the
company’s standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. Purchase limits are established
for each customer, which represents the maximum open amount without requiring approval from
management. Customers that fail to meet the group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the
group only on a prepayment basis.
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The group’s policy is to deal only with ctedit worthy countetparties. The credit terms is generally between
30 and 90 days. The credit terms for customers as negotiated with customets are subject to an internal
approval process as abovementioned. The ongoing credit risk is managed through regular review of ageing
analysis, together with credit limits per customer.

Trade receivables consist of a large number of customers in various industries and mainly in two
geographical areas, namely in Malta and Poland.

Security

The carrying amount of financial assets recorded in the financial statements, which is net of impairment
losses, represents the group’s and the company’s maximum exposure to credit risk, without taking account
of the value of the collateral obtained. Guarantees are disclosed in notes 31 and 41.

In addition, the group does not hold collateral relating to other financial assets (eg derivative assets, cash
and cash equivalents held with banks).

Trade receivables

The group applies the IFRS 9 simplified model of recognising lifetime expected credit losses for all trade
receivables as these items do not have a significant financing component.

In measuring the expected credit losses, the trade receivables have been assessed on a collective basis as
they possess shared credit risk characteristics. They have been grouped based on the days past due and also
according to the geographical location of customets.

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profile for sales over the past 36 months before 31
December 2018 and 1 January respectively as well as the corresponding historical credit losses during that
period. The historical rates ate adjusted to reflect current and forwarding looking mactoeconomic factors
affecting the customer’s ability to settle the amount outstanding. The group has identified gross domestic
product (GDP) and unemployment rates of the countries in which the customers are domiciled to be the
most relevant factors and accordingly adjusts historical loss tates for expected changes in these factors.
However given the short period exposed to credit risk, the impact of these macroeconomic factors has not
been considered significant within the reporting petiod.

Trade receivables are written off (ie derecognised) when thete is no teasonable expectation of recovery.
Failure to make payments within 365 days from the invoice date and failure to engage with the group on
alternative payment arrangement amongst other is considered indicators of no reasonable expectation of
recovery .

On the above basis the expected ctedit loss fot trade receivables as at 31 December 2018 and 1 January
2018 was determined as follows:

More than More than More than

31 December 2018 Current 30 days 60 days 90 days Total
Expected credit loss rate (%) 0.5% 23% 59 % 384 % -
Gross carrying amount (€) 4671276 1,423,772 413,899 2,091,987 8,600,934

Lifetime expected credit loss 21,025 32,556 24,393 804,157 882,131
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More than More than More than

1 January 2018 Current 30 days 60 days 90 days Total
Expected credit loss rate (%) 0.4 % 1.7% 6.9 % 44.9 % -
Gross carrying amount (€) 4,510,835 1,591,955 555496 1,262,555 7,920,841
Lifetime expected credit loss 16,407 27,135 38,694 566,389 648,625

Changes in expected credit loss rates between reporting periods is attributable to change in citcumstances,
past ageing information and revised history of loss occurtences. The group however experiences very low
levels of actual impairments arising from non-performing trade receivables and consequently management
considers the lifetime expected credit losses to be adequate to the business of the group.

The closing balance of the of the trade receivables loss allowance as at 31 December 2018 reconciles with
the trade receivables loss allowance opening balance as follows:

The group The group

2018 2017

€ €

Opening loss allowance as at 1 January (under IAS 39 and IFRS 9) 648,626 656,957
Loss allowance recognised (released) during the year 233,505 (8,331)
Loss allowance as at 31 December 882,131 648,626

42.3 Liquidity risk

The group and company’s exposure to liquidity risk arises from its obligations to meet its financial liabilities,
which comptise debt securities in issue, borrowings, trade and other payables and other financial liabilities
(see notes 30, 31, 32 and 34). Prudent liquidity risk management includes maintaining sufficient cash to
ensure the availability of an adequate amount of funding to meet the group’s and company’s obligations
when they become due.

Liquidity risk is that the group and the company might be unable to meet its obligations. The group and the
company manage their liquidity needs by monitoring scheduled debt servicing payments for long-tetm
financial liabilities as well as forecast cash inflows and outflows due in day-to-day business. The data used
for analysing these cash flows is consistent with that used in the contractual maturity analysis below.
Liquidity needs ate monitoted in various time bands, on a day-to-day and weck-to-week basis. Long-term
liquidity needs for a 180-day and a 360-day lookout period are identified monthly. Net cash requitements
are compared to available borrowing facilities in order to determine headroom of any shortfalls. This
analysis shows that available botrowing facilities are expected to be sufficient over the lookout period.

The group and company’s objective is to maintain cash to meet their liquidity requirements for 30-day
petiods at a minimum. This objective was met for the reporting period. Funding for long-term liquidity
needs is additionally secured by an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and the ability to sell
long-term financial assets.
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The following maturity analysis for financial liabilities shows the temaining contractual maturities using the
contractual undiscounted cash flows on the basis of the earliest date on which the group and the company
can be required to pay. The analysis includes both interest and principal cash flows:

The group

31 December 2018

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing

Fixed rate instruments
Variable-rate instruments

On demand
or within 1 More than
year 1-2years 2-5years 5 years Total
26,652,259 6,831,208 - - 33,483,467
2,386,009 8,235,722 5,508,000 37,836,000 53,965,731
3,334,561 - - - 3,334,561
32,372,829 15,066,930  5508,000 37,836,000 90,783,759

"This compares to the maturity of the group’s non-detivative financial liabilities in the previous reporting

petiods as follows:

31 December 2017

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing

Fixed rate instruments
Variable-rate instruments

The company

31 December 2018

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing
Fixed rate instruments

31 December 2017 (restated)

Non-derivative financial liabilities
Non-interest bearing
Fixed rate instruments

On demand
or within 1 More than
year 1-2years 2-5years 5 years Total
26,542,318 7,076,391 - B 33,618,709
2,958,195 10,231,800 5,508,000 39,672,000 58,369,995
5,274,784 2,399,842 4,162,047 - 11,836,673
34,775,297 19,708,033 9,670,047 39,672,000 103,825,377
On demand
or within 1 More than
year 1-2years 2-5years 5 years Total
717,201 - - - 717,201
2,927,634 1,836,000 5,508,000 57,012,666 67,284,300
3,644,835 1,836,000 5,508,000 57,012,666 68,001,501
On demand
or within 1 More than
year 1-2years 2-5years 5 years Total
635,953 - - - 635,953
2,460,292 1,836,000 5,608,000 43,627,537 53,431,829
3,096,245 1,836,000 5,508,000 43,627,537 54,067,782
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42.4 Summary of financial assets and liabilities by category

The carrying amounts of the group’s financial assets and liabilities as recognised at the end of the reporting
petiod may also be categotised as follows. See note 5.22 for explanations about how the category of
financial instruments affects their subsequent measurement.

The group The group The company The company
2018 2017 2018 2017
(restated)
€ € € €
Non-current assets
Loans and receivables 8,523,204 6,476,110 34,901,419 5,527,646
Current assets
Loans and receivables 1,039,552 732,378 3,600,000 8,389,097
Trade and other receivables 11,199,368 14,513,649 186,507 301,489
Cash and cash equivalents 3,604,370 3,231,078 1,366,403 200,472
15,843,290 18,477,105 5,152,910 8,891,058
Non-current liabilities
Debt securities in issue 35,515,557 35,434,649 35,615,657 35,434,649
Borrowings 100,000 5,755,339 - -
Trade and other payables 831,208 1,076,391 - -
Other financial iabilities 12,299,722 8,395,800 19,176,666 3,955,537
48,746,487 50,662,179 54,692,223 39,390,186
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost:
Borrowings 3,534,561 6,009,619 - -
Trade and other payables 21,753,112 22,576,932 717,201 635,953
Other financial iabilities 350,009 405,422 1,091,634 624,292
25,637,682 28,991,973 1,808,835 1,260,245

42.5 Financial instruments measured at fair value

Financial assets and financial liabilities measured at fair value in the statement of financial position are
grouped into three levels of a fair value hierarchy. The three levels are defined based on the observability of
significant inputs to the measurement, as follows:

» Level 1: quoted ptices (unadjusted) in active matkets for identical assets or liabilities

* Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly ot indirectly

* Level 3: unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.

At 31 December 2018 and 2017, except for debt securities in issue as disclosed in note 30, the carrying
amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities classified with curtent assets and current liabilities
respectively approximated their fair values due to the short-term maturities of these assets and liabilities.

The fair values of the debt securities in issue is as disclosed in note 30. The fair values of other non-current
financial liabilities and the non-current loans and receivables are not materially different from their carrying
amounts due to the fact that the interest rates are considered to tepresent market rates at the year-end ot
because they are repayable on demand. The fair values of the financial assets and financial liabilities included
in the level 2 category above have been determined in accordance with generally accepted pricing models
based on a discounted cash flow analysis, with the most significant inputs being the discount rate that reflects
the credit risk of counterparties.
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Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an ordetly
transaction between matket participants at the measurement date.

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the
company determines when transfers are deemed to have occutred between Levels in the hierarchy at the end

of each reporting petiod.

The following table provides an analysis of financial instruments that are not measured subsequent to initial
recognition at fair value, other than those with carrying amounts that ate reasonable approximations of fair
value, and othet than investments in subsidiaries, associates and joint ventures, grouped into Levels 1 to 3.

The group

31 December 2018

Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Receivables from related parties

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Related party loans

Bank overdrafts and loans

Debt securities

31 December 2017

Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Receivables from related parties

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Related party loans

Bank overdrafts and loans

Debt securities

Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total amount

€ € € € €

- 9,562,756 - 9,562,756 9,562,756

- 9,562,756 - 9,562,756 9,562,756

- 12,649,731 - 12,649,731 12,649,731

- 3,634,561 - 3,634,561 3,634,561
37,440,000 - - 37,440,000 35,515,657
37,440,000 16,284,292 - 53,724,292 51,799,849
Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total amount

€ € € € €

- 7,208,488 - 7,208,488 7,208,488

- 7,208,488 - 7,208,488 7,208,488

- 8,801,222 - 8,801,222 8,801,222

- 11,764,958 - 11,764,958 11,764,958
37,267,200 - - 37,267,200 35,434,649
37,267,200 20,566,180 - 57,833,380 56,000,829
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The company

31 December 2018

Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Receivables from related parties

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Related party loans
Debt securities

31 December 2017 (restated)

Financial assets
Loans and receivables
Receivables from related parties

Financial liabilities at amortised cost
Related party loans
Debt securities

43 Capital risk management
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Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total amount

€ € € € €

- 38,501,419 - 38,501,419 38,501,419

- 38,501,419 - 38,501,419 38,501,419

- 20,268,300 - 20,268,300 20,268,300
37,440,000 - - 37,440,000 35,515,657
37,440,000 20,268,300 - 57,708,300 55,783,857
Carrying

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total amount

€ € € € €

- 13,916,743 - 13,916,743 13,916,743

- 13,916,743 - 13,916,743 13,916,743

- 4,579,829 - 4,579,829 4,579,829
37,267,200 - - 37,267,200 35,434,649
37,267,200 4,579,829 - 41,847,029 40,014,478

The group’s and the company’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard its ability to continue as a
going concern and to maximise the return to stakeholders through the optimisation of the debt and equity

balance.

The capital structure of the group and the company consists of debt, which includes the borrowings
disclosed in notes 30, 31 and 34, cash and cash equivalents as disclosed in note 26 and of items presented
within equity in the statement of financial position.

The group’s directors manage the capital structure and make adjustments to it, in light of changes in
economic conditions. The capital structure is reviewed on an ongoing basis. Based on recommendations of
the directors, the group balances its overall capital structure through the payments of dividends, new shate
issues as well as the issue of new debt or the redemption of existing debt.

44 Post reporting date events

No adjusting or significant non-adjusting events have occutred between the end of the reporting petiod and

the date of authotisation by the board.
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45 Discontinued operations

During 2016 management decided to discontinue the Middle East Operation which was operated via a
branch in the Middle East through a subsidiary of the group, PTL Limited, which is reportable in the I'T
solutions and security systems segment. Revenue and expenses, gains and losses relating to the
discontinuation of the operation have been eliminated from the results from the company’s continuing
opetation and are shown as a single line item on the face of the income statement (see ‘loss for the year from
discontinued operations’).

Operating loss of the Middle East Branch until the date of discontinuation is summarized as follows:

The group The group

2018 2017

€ €

Administrative and other expenses - (4,988)
Loss for the year from discontinued operations - (4,988)

Cash flows used by the Middle East Branch fot the reporting period under review until the discontinuation is
summarised as follows:

The group The group

2018 2017

€ €

Operating activities - (4,988)

Cash flows used in discontinued operations - (4,988)
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Independent auditor’s report

"T'o the shareholders of 1923 Investments plc.

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion

We have audited the financial statements of 1923 Investments p.l.c. (the “Company”) and of the Group of
which it is the parent, set out on pages 13 to 85, which comprise the statements of financial position as at 31
December 2018, and the statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, statements of changes
in equity and statements of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including
a summaty of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Company and the Group as at 31 December 2018, and of their financial performance and cash flows for the
year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
Buropean Union (EU), and have been propetly prepared in accordance with the requirements of the
Companies Act, Cap. 386 (the “Act”).

Our opinion is consistent with our additional report to the audit committee.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standatds on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further desctibed in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Company and the Group in accordance with the
International Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (TESBA
Code) together with the ethical requitements of the Accountancy Profession (Code of Ethics for Warrant
Holders) Directive issued in terms of the Accountancy Profession Act, Cap. 281 that are relevant to our audit
of the financial statements in Malta. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requitements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion. In conducting our audit we have remained independent of the Company and the Group
and have not provided any of the non-audit services prohibited by article 18A of the Accountancy Profession
Act, Cap. 281 The non-audit services that we have provided to the Company and the Group during the year
ended 31 December 2018 ate disclosed in note 11 to the financial statements.

Key audit matters

Key audit mattets are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit
of the financial statements of the cutrent period and include the most significant assessed tisks of material
misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) that we identified. These matters were addressed in the context of
our audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on these matters.

Impairment testing of goodwill and intangible assets in the consolidated financial statements

Key audit matter

Goodwill with a carrying amount of €54.28 million and intangible assets having a carrying amount of €12.01
million as at 31 December 2018 are included on the Group’s Statement of Financial Position as at that date.
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Management is required to perform an assessment at least annually to establish whether goodwill and intangible
assets that have an indefinite useful life should continue to be recognised, ot if any impairment is required.
The assessment was performed at the lowest level at which the Group could allocate and assess goodwill,
which is referred to as a cash generating unit (‘CGU’).

The impairment assessment was based on the calculation of a value-in-use for each of the CGUs. This
calculation was based on estimated future cash flows for each CGU, including assumptions concerning revenue
growth, profit margins, weighted average cost of capital and effective tax rates.

Estimating future profitability requires the directors to apply significant judgements which include estimating
future taxable profits, long term growth and discount rates. The estimation of future cash flows and the level
to which they are discounted is inherently uncertain and requires judgement.

We focussed on this area because of the significance of the amounts of goodwill and intangible assets with
indefinite useful life acquired in business combinations made by the Group up to 31 December 2018 which
are recognised at balance sheet date. Moreover, the directors' assessment process is complex and highly
judgmental and is based on assumptions which are affected by expected future market ot economic conditions.

How the key audit matter was addressed in our audit

We evaluated the suitability and appropriateness of the impairment methodology applied by management and
engaged our internal valuation specialist resources to assess the reliability of the ditectors’ forecasts and to
challenge the methodology used and the undetlying assumptions. We concluded that the parameters utilised
were reasonable.

We communicated with management and those charged with governance and noted that they were able to
provide satisfactory responses to our questions. We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures made in
notes 5.29 of the financial statements relating to goodwill including those regarding the key assumptions used
in assessing its carrying amount. Those disclosures specifically explain that the ditectors have assessed the
carrying amount of goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite useful life as at 31 December 2018 to be
recoverable and that there is no impairment in the value of the goodwill and intangible assets with an indefinite
useful life.

Assessment of carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries and other investments in the Company
financial statements

Key audit matter

During the year ended 31 December 2018 management cartied out an assessment to establish whether the
carrying amount of investments in subsidiaries and other investments in the financial statements of the
Company at 31 December 2018 should continue to be recognised, or if any impairment is required.

We focussed on this area because of the significance of the investments in subsidiaries and other investments
which, at 31 December 2018, amounted € 64.91 million. Moteover, the directors' assessment process is
complex and highly judgmental and is based on assumptions, such as forecast growth rates, profit margins,
weighted average cost of capital and effective tax rate, which are affected by expected futute market or
economic conditions.

How the key audit matter was addressed in our audit

We evaluated the suitability and appropriateness of the impairment methodology applied by management and
engaged our internal valuation specialist resoutces to assess the reliability of the directors’ forecasts and to
challenge the methodology used and the undetlying assumptions. We concluded that the parameters utilised
were reasonable.

We communicated with management and those charged with governance and noted that they were able to
provide satisfactoty responses to our questions. We also assessed the adequacy of the disclosures made in note
5.29 of the financial statements relating to investments including those regarding the key assumptions used in
assessing its cartying amount. Those disclosures specifically explain that the directors have assessed the
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carrying amount of investments as at 31 December 2018 to be recovetable and that thete is no impairment in
the value of the investments.

Other information

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comptises (i) the Directors’
tepott, (it) the Statement of responsibility pursuant to the Listing Rules issued by the Listing Authority (iif) the
Cotporate governance statement and (iv) Other disclosures in terms of Listing Rules which we obtained prior
to the date of this auditor’s report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditot’s report
thereon.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information, including the Directots’ report.

In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our tesponsibility is to read the other information
identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the othet information is materially inconsistent with the
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appeats to be materially misstated.

With respect to the Directors’ report, we also consideted whether the Ditectors’ report includes the disclosures
required by Article 177 of the Act.

Based on the work we have petformed, in our opinion:

® The information given in the Directors’ report for the financial yeat for which the financial statements are
prepared is consistent with the financial statements, and
e the Directors’ report has been prepared in accordance with the Act.

In addition, in light of the knowledge and undetstanding of the Company and the Group and their environment
obtained in the course of the audit, we ate required to report if we have identified matetial misstatements in
the Directors’ report and other information that we obtained prior to the date of this auditot’s tepott. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors those charged with governance for the financial statements

The directors are responsible for the prepatation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the EU and are propetly prepared in accordance with the provisions of
the Act, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
financial statements that ate free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Company’s and the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Company or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. The directors ate responsible for overseeing the
Company’s and the Group’s financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or etrot, and to issue an auditot’s repott that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in
accordance with ISAs will always detect a matetial misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from
fraud ot error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected
to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

In terms of article 179A(4) of the Act, the scope of our audit does not include assurance on the future viability
if the audited entity or on the efficiency or effectiveness with which the ditectors have conducted or will
conduct the affairs of the entity.
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As part of an audit in accordance with the ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional

scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

- Identify and assess the tisks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
etrot, design and perform audit procedutes tresponsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from etror, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, mistepresentations, or the override of internal control.

- Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not fot the putpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness
of the Company’s and Group’s internal control.

- Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates
and related disclosures made by management.

- Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and,
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions
that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s and Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If
we conclude that a matetial uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify outr
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However future events or conditions may cause the Company or the Group to cease to continue as a
going concetn.

- Evaluate the overall presentation, structute and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a
manner that achieves fair presentation.

- Obtain sufficient appropriate evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business
activities within the Group to express and opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that
we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with the relevant
ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other
matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that wete
of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the cutrent period and are therefore the key
audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected
to outweigh the public intetest benefit of such communication.

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements

Report on Corporate governance statement

The Listing Rules issued by the Malta Listing Authority (the “Listing Rules™) tequite the directors to prepare
and include in their Annual Report a Corporate governance statement providing an explanation of the extent
to which they have adopted the Code of Principles of Good Cotporate Governance and the effective measures
that they have taken to ensure compliance throughout the accounting period with those Principles.
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The Listing Rules also tequite us, as the auditor of the Company, to include a report on the Statement of
Compliance prepared by the directors.

We read the Statement of Compliance with the Code of Principles of Good Cotporate Govetnance and
consider the implications for out report if we become awate of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements included in the Annual Report. Our responsibilities do not extend
to considering whether this statement is consistent with any other information included in the Annual Report.

We are not required to, and we do not, consider whether the Board’s statements on internal control included
in the Statement of Compliance with the Code of Principles of Good Corporate Governance cover all risks
and controls, or form an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s corporate governance procedures or
its risk and control procedures.

In our opinion, the Corporate governance statement set out on pages 9 to 11 has been propetly prepared in
accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.

Other matters on which we are required to report by exception
We also have responsibilities

¢ under the Companies Act, Cap 386 to tepott to you if, in our opinion:
- adequate accounting records have not been kept, ot that returns adequate for our audit have not been

received from branches not visited by us
- the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns
- we have not received all the information and explanations we requite for our audit
- certain disclosurs of directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made in the financial statements,

giving the required particulars in our repott.

e interms of Listing Rules to review the statement made by the Directors that the business is a going concetn
together with supporting assumptions or qualifications as necessaty.

We have nothing to report to you in respect of these responsibilities.

Auditor tenure

We were first appointed as auditors of the Company and the Group on 14 November 2017. Our
appointment has been renewed annually by a shareholders’ resolution reptesenting a total period of
uninterrupted engagement appointment of two yeats.

The engagement{partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditot’s repott is Mark Bugeja.

Mark Bugeja (P ) for and on behalf of
GRANT THORNTON

Fort Business Centre
Level 2

Mriehel Bypass
Birkirkara BIKR 3000
Malta

25 April 2019
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